
Cornwall Public Library

February 14, 2024, 7:00 PM

Regular Meeting Agenda

I. Roll

II. Approval of Agenda

III. Approval of the Minutes-January 10, 2023

IV. Financial Review

a. Approval of Warrant # 7

V. Public Remarks

VI. Communications/Donations

VII. Director’s Report – See Google Docs

VIII. Committee Reports

1. Finance Committee: Motion to accept a $25.00 donation from Mr. & Mrs. Miller in memory of
Kathleen Cockey; Motion to pay 4 contractor bills totaling $ 106,227.74

2. Policy Committee

3. Building, Garden, Grounds & Sustainability Committee

4. Friends

5. Personnel Committee: Motion to Accept Resignation of Lisa LaGrutta, effective Feb. 13, 2024

6. Strategic Planning Committee

IX. Unfinished Business

X. New Business: 2024/2025 Budget

XI. Adjournment

Next Regular Board Meeting Weds. March 13, 2024, 7 PM



Cornwall Public Library Board of Trustees Meeting

January 10, 2024 7:00 p.m.

Minutes

Meeting was called to order by Meghann Chyla at 7:02 p.m.

I. Roll:

Trustees Present: Meghann Chyla (Vice President), Matt Rettig, Lynn Daniels, Julia Dahl,
Michelle Query

Also: Charlotte A Dunaief (Director), Cathy Squillini (Minutes)

Excused: Stephanie Wolf (President), Melissa Greaves-Kulisek (Secretary)

Public: Brenda Goldfarb, Rebecca Barth

II. Approval of Agenda: A motion to approve the agenda was made by Lynn Daniels, seconded
by Matt Rettig and unanimously approved.

III. Approval of the Minutes: A motion to approve minutes of the Regular Board Meeting of
December 13, 2023 was made by Julia Dahl, seconded by Matt Rettig, and unanimously
approved.

IV. Financial Review: A motion to approve Warrant #6 in the amount of $98,685.40 was made
by Matt Rettig, seconded by Julia Dahl. Discussion: Payment to Belsito is the Web Host Fee;
Cash payment is the quarterly reimbursement to petty cash; dormakaba USA, Inc. is front door
repair; Elan Financial Services is for credit card payment; Friends of the Cornwall Library
represents a donation to Friends that was sent to CPL; Hudson Microimaging Inc. is the Storage
Archive fee; Julia Bengyak is a presenter for Youth Services; Patterson Painting payment is for
purchase of paint for the staff lunch room; three payments of $494.70 to three retired employees
for quarterly Medicare payments; Town of Cornwall Receiver of Taxes is the annual sewer fee. A
vote to approve Warrant #6 in the amount of $98,685.40 was unanimous.

V. Public Remarks: None

VI. Communications and Donations: None

VII. Director’s Report: See Google Docs for full report.

The Director is still waiting for Civil Service to certify the lists for Librarian I Adult Services and
Librarian II Youth Services.



The back flow valve was tested in December. The water cooler was removed from the staff
lunch room after the staff agreed it was no longer necessary since the new water fountain has a
water bottle refill feature. This will mean a $50/month saving to CPL. Lockers are being installed
in the staff lunch room. Thank you to Luann and her husband for assembling the lockers. Profex
finished installing restroom door handles and staff kitchen cabinet work.

The Director discussed with the Board a recent communication she had with RCLS regarding
the issuance of CPL library cards to West Point military families.RCLS wants to know if CPL will
continue this practice. Although it is not yet been made clear why this inquiry is being made at
this time, it is the Director’s belief that military families have a right to access a public library.
Board members agreed. The question was raised regarding the possibility of contacting RCLS
by phone or in writing to convey CPL support to keep the process of issuing library cards to
West Point military families intact.

VIII. Committee Reports:

Finance Committee: At the half year mark the Library has not yet spent 50% of its budget.

Policy: A motion to send the revised Governance of the Board of Trustees to the lawyer was
made by Lynn Daniels and seconded by Michelle Query.

Discussion: Changes were made to the Shared Document based on the Board's response and
input. The section titled Budget and Public Voting will include language indicating that the
Budget Vote will occur in the month of April, or as close to April as the Orange County Board of
Elections schedule will allow.

Buildings, Gardens, Grounds, and Sustainability will be changed to Buildings, Grounds, and
Sustainability.

Site of Meeting will include language barrier-free access to all.

Trustee Roster will change the dates of term from July 2023-July 2024 to FY 23-24.

The ‘approved as Policy date’ will be changed once the update is complete and document is
returned from the lawyer.

A vote to send the revised Governance of the Board of Trustees to the lawyer with these
changes was unanimous.

Buildings, Grounds, and Sustainability: It was discussed that a meeting date with Chris
Patak should be set up where he can clarify for the Board what would be needed in order to
install solar panels and how to proceed with the most cost-effective ways to do so.

Friends: None



Personnel: A motion to accept the resignation of Emma Terronez, effective January 15, 2024,
was made by Matt Rettig, seconded by Julia Dahl, and unanimously approved.

Strategic Planning Committee: Community and Staff input forms and implementation plans for
both were finalized by the Committee. CPL PR Specialist Jessica McHugh will use the flyer
drafted by the Committee to develop the final version which will include a QR Code to direct the
user to the survey link on the Library website. The flyer will be posted at the Circulation Desk
and on the front door of the Library. There will also be a link to the survey on the Homepage of
the CPL website.

IX. Unfinished Business: None

X. New Business: The Library Budget Vote is scheduled for May 7, 2024. This date is prior to
the Cornwall Central School District budget vote and will work with the Orange County Board of
Elections’ ability to provide voting machines.

A motion to waive the requirement set forth in paragraph 8b and follow the policy set forth in
paragraph 9a of the Budget and Public Voting policy was made by Matt Rettig, seconded by
Meghann Chyla, and unanimously approved.

XI Adjournment: A motion to adjourn was made by Michelle Query, seconded by Lynn Daniels,
and unanimously approved. The Regular Board Meeting was adjourned at 7:54 p.m.

The next Regular Board Meeting will be held on

Wednesday, February 14, 2024 at 7:00 p.m.



Cornwall Public Library
Warrant #7
January 2024

  Thursday, February 8, 2024 01:15 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

DATE TRANSACTION TYPE NAME ACCOUNT AMOUNT

Aflac $ -93.70

Arbor Associates $ -600.00

Ashcraft Lock & Door $ -467.50

Benninger Landscaping LTD $ -900.00

Blackstone Publishing $ -170.64

Brodart Co- JUV $ -6,024.74

Brodart Co.- McN $ -610.75

Cengage Learning Inc/Gale $ -46.50

Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp $ -3,964.25

Charlotte Dunaief $ -10.05

Cornwall Public Library Payroll $ -50,537.70

Demco, Inc. $ -211.58

Elan Financial Services $ -2,147.77

Elizabeth Fisher $ -65.30

Greater Cornwall Chamber of Commerce $ -100.00

hoopla $ -1,089.69

Ingram Library Services $ -6,766.22

Joanne Barclay $ -50.00

Julie Bengyak $ -100.00

Lock Around the Clock $ -70.00

Luann Richards $ -41.93

Marangi Disposal $ -166.40

Moffat Library $ -35.00

Nationwide NYS Deffered $ -1,200.00

NET 2 PHONE $ -192.54

NYS & Local Retirement $ -527.78

NYS Health Insurance Pending Acct $ -5,983.84

Pam Stockton $ -35.17

RCLS $ -17,524.11

Richard Dambra $ -250.00

Roth Backflow Services $ -225.00

RPC Electric $ -1,900.00

Safe & Sound $ -280.06

Silvana  O'Keefe $ -60.00

Staples $ -444.47

Toshiba $ -526.45

ULINE $ -1,098.02

Verizon $ -119.00

Verizon- Wireless $ -15.08

Village of Cornwall on Hudson $ -72.00

TOTAL $ -104,723.24



Cornwall Public Library
Capital Grant Activity
July 2023 - January 2024

Cash Basis  Sunday, February 11, 2024 07:33 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

CAPITAL PURCHASES TOTAL

Revenue

4760 Grants/Other 203,288.00 $203,288.00

9999 Prior Year Grant Back Out 39,000.00 $39,000.00

Total Revenue $242,288.00 $242,288.00

GROSS PROFIT $242,288.00 $242,288.00

Expenditures

7000 Grant Expenses Paid in Prior Year 39,000.00 $39,000.00

8010 Capital Purchase 999,019.43 $999,019.43

Total Expenditures $1,038,019.43 $1,038,019.43

NET OPERATING REVENUE $ -795,731.43 $ -795,731.43

NET REVENUE $ -795,731.43 $ -795,731.43



Cornwall Public Library
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 23-24 - Operating Expenses (58% of FY)

July 2023 - January 2024

Cash Basis  Sunday, February 11, 2024 07:20 PM GMT-05:00   1/2

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

Revenue

4002 Local Public Funds 1,427,933.00 1,427,933.00 0.00 100.00 %

4082 Income 3,149.93 1,000.00 2,149.93 314.99 %

4401 Interest Income 3,206.17 500.00 2,706.17 641.23 %

4706 Friends of the Cornwall Public Library 5,282.11 13,500.00 -8,217.89 39.13 %

4840 RCLS- LLSA 4,764.89 4,810.00 -45.11 99.06 %

Total Revenue $1,444,336.10 $1,447,743.00 $ -3,406.90 99.76 %

GROSS PROFIT $1,444,336.10 $1,447,743.00 $ -3,406.90 99.76 %

Expenditures

6010 Retirement 61,889.00 55,700.00 6,189.00 111.11 %

6020 6020 NYS Disability Benenfits 2,125.05 2,125.05

6030.8 FICA/Medicare Expense 32,963.68 69,393.00 -36,429.32 47.50 %

6060 Worker's Compensation 9,105.00 7,500.00 1,605.00 121.40 %

6090 Health Insurance 33,713.16 101,852.00 -68,138.84 33.10 %

6141 Professional Library 99,163.92 211,516.00 -112,352.08 46.88 %

6142 Clerical Salary 263,807.28 532,050.00 -268,242.72 49.58 %

6143 Treasurer Salary 3,672.15 6,365.00 -2,692.85 57.69 %

6144 Custodial Salary 10,542.75 27,838.00 -17,295.25 37.87 %

7410 Books 20,452.38 61,850.00 -41,397.62 33.07 %

7410.9 McNaughton 4,275.25 7,329.00 -3,053.75 58.33 %

7411 Movie License 232.50 700.00 -467.50 33.21 %

7412 Video/Music/Books on Tape 20,180.85 45,900.00 -25,719.15 43.97 %

7413 Serials/Reference

7413.20 Juvenile Reference 790.00 -790.00

7413.3 Reference- Adult Electronic 1,563.35 7,000.00 -5,436.65 22.33 %

7413.4 Reference- Juv Electronic 2,500.00 -2,500.00

7413.5 Local History- Electronic 1,128.00 1,000.00 128.00 112.80 %

7413.6 Serials 5,740.75 7,200.00 -1,459.25 79.73 %

7413.7 Professional Collection 750.00 -750.00

Total 7413 Serials/Reference 8,432.10 19,240.00 -10,807.90 43.83 %

7430 Supplies

7430.1 Library Supplies 3,799.75 6,300.00 -2,500.25 60.31 %

7430.11 Book Processing 770.87 2,200.00 -1,429.13 35.04 %

7430.2 Office Supplies 5,836.17 11,000.00 -5,163.83 53.06 %

7430.30 Program Supplies- Adult 1,650.28 3,500.00 -1,849.72 47.15 %

7430.31 Program Supplies- YA 111.28 2,000.00 -1,888.72 5.56 %

7430.32 Program Supplies -JUV 941.92 1,500.00 -558.08 62.79 %

7430.33 Summer Reading 149.89 10,500.00 -10,350.11 1.43 %

7430.34 Program Supplies- Outreach -51.07 3,000.00 -3,051.07 -1.70 %

Total 7430 Supplies 13,209.09 40,000.00 -26,790.91 33.02 %

7431 Telephone 3,536.67 4,900.00 -1,363.33 72.18 %

7432 Square Processing Fees 17.06 100.00 -82.94 17.06 %

7433 Postage and Shipping 554.84 4,900.00 -4,345.16 11.32 %



Cornwall Public Library
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 23-24 - Operating Expenses (58% of FY)

July 2023 - January 2024

Cash Basis  Sunday, February 11, 2024 07:20 PM GMT-05:00   2/2

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

7434 Printing 515.74 10,000.00 -9,484.26 5.16 %

7435 7435- Travel/Conference 941.11 4,500.00 -3,558.89 20.91 %

7437 Professional Fees

7437.1 Prof Fees- Office 5,764.33 22,050.00 -16,285.67 26.14 %

7437.2 Prof Fees- Adult Programs 1,000.00 6,000.00 -5,000.00 16.67 %

7437.3 Professional Fees- YA 2,000.00 -2,000.00

7437.4 Professional Fees- Juv 400.00 4,000.00 -3,600.00 10.00 %

7437.5 Professional Fees- Summer Reading Program 850.00 5,000.00 -4,150.00 17.00 %

7437.6 Professional Fees- Outreach 2,500.00 -2,500.00

Total 7437 Professional Fees 8,014.33 41,550.00 -33,535.67 19.29 %

7438 Dues 1,043.00 1,500.00 -457.00 69.53 %

7450 Utilities/Fuel 20,022.54 35,000.00 -14,977.46 57.21 %

7451 Custodial Supplies 918.74 3,500.00 -2,581.26 26.25 %

7452 Repairs to Building 14,955.30 24,048.00 -9,092.70 62.19 %

7454 Building Insurance 11,735.17 13,500.00 -1,764.83 86.93 %

7455 RCLS 54,273.66 77,472.00 -23,198.34 70.06 %

7469 Service Contracts 12,540.97 39,540.00 -26,999.03 31.72 %

Total Expenditures $712,833.29 $1,447,743.00 $ -734,909.71 49.24 %

NET OPERATING REVENUE $731,502.81 $0.00 $731,502.81 0.00%

NET REVENUE $731,502.81 $0.00 $731,502.81 0.00%









































HVAC/ Restroom Totals Through Jan 2024

Blake Engineering 555,550.00
Collier Construction S56,294.00
Fanshawe/ Rockland E 5L20,234.3L
MDS HVAC 5506,444.23
Profex lnc 5397,449.63

5t,t3s,972.r7



AIA Type Documeht
Application and Certification for Payment Page 1 of 3

TO (OWNER): Cornwall Public Library
395 Hudson St
Cornwall. NY 12518

FROM (CONTRACTOR): MDS HVAC-R lnc.
192 Plains Road
Walden, NY 12586

CONTRACT FOR: #4 Plumbing Construction-Base/altl/alt3

pROJECt Cornwall Public Lib -Plum Base

VIA (ARCHITECT): Blake Engineering PLLC
1898 County Route 1

Westtown, NY 10998

ARCHITECTS
PROJECT NO: SED# 44-OlO1-06-6-00

CONTRACT DATE: 3/2312023

APPLICATION NO: 6

PERIOD TO:12l31/2023

OISTRIBUTION
TO:

. OWNER

- ARCHITECT
CONTRACTOR

CONTRAGTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT
Application is made for Payment, as shown below, in connection with the Conkact.
Continuation Sheet, AIA Type Documeht is attached.

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT SUM

2. Net Change by change Orders . . .

3. CONTRACT SUM TO DATE (Line 1 + 2). . ...
4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE

The Undersigned Contractor certifies that to the best ofthe Contractods knowledge, information and
belief the wo.k covered by this application for Payment has been completed in accordance with the
Conkact Documents, that all amounts have been paid by the Conkactor for Work for wlrich previous
Certificates for Payment vlere issled and payments received from the owner, and that
currenl payment shown hereln b now due.

K.lherii'le Anastasia Ward
CONTRACTOR: MDS HVAC-R lnc.

192 Plains Road Walden, NY 12586

Notai'i i';b ic. Siate ci I'J€w York
l',c. I l tlil!.il92415

$

$

$

$

72,141.00

2.887.23

75,028.23 Oue:iix.i in Oranoe CoU
Cornnri-:sicn xpl

!tY
tember 2, 20

Date:

ill--T? 5,028.23
By:

Viesti I
5. RETAINAGE:

a. ----_____:LgL% of Completed Work

b. 0.00 % of Stored Malerial

Totalretainage (Line 5a + 5b) . ... ..

75.428.23

69,836.62

0.00

CI tANGE ORDER SUItll!4ARY ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS

Total changes approved in
previous months by owner 2,887.23 0.00

Total approved th s lvlonth 0.00 000

TOTALS

NET CHANGES by Change Order

2,887.23 0.00

2,887.23

State of: NY

County of: Orang

,r4Subscribed

No
"\o

re me th Day of

Mvc n Expires

ARCHITECT'S C R IFICATE FOR PAYMENT
ln Accordanco with lhe Contracl Documents, based on on-site observataons and thedata com-
prising the above application, the Architect certifies to owner that to the best of the Architect's
knowledge, rnformation and beliefthe Work has progressed as indicated,lhe quality ofthe work
is in accordance with the Contract Documents, and the Contractor is enliiled to payment of the
AMOUNT CERTIFIED.

(Attadt explanetion if amount cedified differs frorn the amouht applied. lnitial all figures on this
Application and on the Continuqtbh Sh6el tbat are changed to @nfom to the amount ceditied.)

ARCHITECT
By: Date:

This Ce(ificate ls not negotiable. The AN4OUNT CERTIFIED is payable only to the Conkactor
named herein. lssuance, Payment and acceptance of payment are without prejudice to any
rights of the Owner or Contractor under this Contract.

s

S

0.00

0.00

$

S

s

s

0.00

6. TOTAL EARNEO LESS RETAINAGE, , , , .

{Line 4 less Line 5 Total)

7. LESS PREVIOUS CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT
(Line 6 from prior Certificate). . . .

8. CURRENT PAYMENT DUE , ,, ,,,
9. BALANCE TO FINISH, INCLUD!NG RETAINAGE

(Line 3 less Ljne 6) $

5,191.61

AMOUNTCERTIFIED ....... -,,, $



Blaxg ENcTNEERING PLLC

FOR:
Cotnwall Pu

PA'IANENT IS DUE !flITHIN 30 DAYS

TTIANK YOU FOR YOUR BUSINESS!

Replacem

INVOICE #2284
DATE:1/3/2024

ent Ptoject

TOTAIDUE

1898 CouNTy RourE I, WESTTo!ilN, NE\v Yonr< 10998
EMArL: MBLAKE@BLAKEENGTNEERTNGPLLC.coM I PH:845-467-9207 |Ft 845-767-5050

DESCRIPTION UNITS RATE AMOUNT

Architectulal & IIEP Design: Complctioa of final bid documents for TIVAC
RepJacement and Public Toilet Room Renovations

100.0% $35,500.00 $35,500.00

tuchit€ctutal & MEP Design: Complction of 6nal bid documents for Staff Toilet
Room Rcnor.ation & Break Room Flooting Replacemeot)

100,0% $3,500.00 $3,500.00

Construction Administtation 100.0% $16,550.00 $16,550.00

SI]BTOTAI $5s,550.00

I-ess Previous lnvoices -(14"t ,27 s.00)

$8,27s.00

TO:
Comwall Public Libtary'
395 Hudson Strcet
Cornwall, NY 12518

Atm: Chadone Duoaief



AIA Type Document
Application and Certification for Payment Page 1 of 3

. APPLICATION NO: 6

PERIOD TO:12l31/2023

VIA (ARCHITEoT): Blake Engineering PLLC
1898 Coumty Route 1

Wesltown, NY 10998

ARCHITECT'S
PROJECT NO: SED# 44-03-01.064-00

FROM (CONTRACTOR): MDS HVAC.R lnc.
192 Plains Road
Walden, NY 12586

CONTRACT FOR: CT#2 Mechanlcal Construclian #17142

TO (OwNER): Cornwall Public Library
395 Hudson St
Cornwall, NY 12518

PROJECT: Cornwall Public Lib.ary- HVAC OISTRIBUTION
TO:
. OWNER

-ARCHITECTCONTRACTOR

CONTRACT DATE: 3/2312023

GONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT
Application is made for Paymenl, as shown below in connection with the Contract.
Continuation Sheet, AIA Type Document is attached,

The Undersigned Contractor certifies that to the best of the Contracto/s knowledge, information and
beliefthe work covered by this application for Paymenl has been completed in accordanc€ with the
Contract Documents, that all amounts have been paid by the Contractor for Work for which previous
Certificates for Payment were issued and payments received from the owner, and that
cur6nt payment shown herein is nowdue 

K::,aerca A,na-.rtas,a \/vard

ooNTRACToR: (IDS HVAC-R lnc. Nctart., lii.rl.riic. Si6i.r .i New York
i\rJ. ir:'t,r,il: a12.: i 5192 Plains Road Walden NY 12586

$

$

$

$

425,315.001. ORIGINAL CONTRACT SUM . ,

2. Net Change by Change Orders

3. CONTRACTSUM TO DATE (Llne 1 + 2).... . . .

4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE . ,

5. RETAINAGE:
a. 

-______..1q!qq% 
of Completed Work S

b. 
-_______.1!.199% 

of Stored ltlaterial $

Total retainage (Line 5a + 5b) . . . .

0.00

425.315.00
o

rniissi sep
r- icunlv ^r r

ncer :.20 'Lll
--r425,315.00

By

Subscribed a

Date

0.00

/ President

before0.00 Day of 20 4
S

$

s

0.00

6. TOTAL EARNED LESS RETAINAGE .

(Line 4 less Line 5 Total)

7. LESS PREVIOUS CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT

(Line 6 from prior Certifrcate) ....
8.CURRENTPAYMENTDUE,,.,. .,.
9. BALANCE TO FINISH, INCLUDING RETAINAGE

(Line 3less Line 6) $

386,823.00

38,492.00

0.00

CHANGE ORDER SUMI,'IARY ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS

Total changes approved in
previous months by Owner 0.00 0.00

Total approved this Month 0.00 0.00

TOTALS

NET CHANGES by Change Order

0.00 0.00

0.00

[4y Commt Expires

ARCHITECT'S CERTI FICATE FOR PAYMENT
ln Accordance with the Conlract Documents, based on on-site obsetuations and the data com-
prislng the above appljcation, theArchitect certifies to owner that to the best of the Architect's
knoyvledge, information and beliefthe Work has progressed as indicated,the quality of the work
is in accordance with the Conkact Documents, and the Contractor ;s entitled to payment of the
AMOUNT CERTIFIED,

AMOUNT CERTIFIED

425,315.00

S

(Attach explanation.if amounl cettified difters frcrd the amount applied. lnitial all figurcs on this
Application and on lhe Continuatian Sheet that arc changed to confom to the amount cedified.)

ARCHITECT:
By: Date

This Certificate is not negotiable. The AMOUNT CERTIFIED is payable only to the Contractor
named tterein. lssuance, Payment and acceptance of payment are without prejudice to any
rights of the Owner or Contractor under this Contract.

State of: NY

County of: Orange



.W*AIA Document G732"- 2019
Application and Certificate for Payment, Construction Manager as Adviser Edition

TO OWNERi Comivall Pnblic Libr.rry
395 Iludson St.
Cornwnll, NY l25lli

I)rolcx hrc
2(yl Norlh Plank Rd.
Ncwblrgh. NY 12550
Ccncral Construclion

PROJECT: Conrwall Libnrry
315 Iludson St. Cornwnll, NY
125t8

APPLICATIoN N0:005

PERIOD T0: Novcnrbcr 30, 2023

CONTRACT DATE:

PROJECT NOS: Blakc Enginccring / Profcx Inc

OWNER:
CONSTRUCTION MAI.IAGER:

tr
tr

ARoHITECT: fl
CONIRACTOR: !

FIELD: n
OTHER : E

Distribution lo:

FROM

CONTRACTOR:
VIA CONSTRUCTION
IiIANAGER:

CONTRACT FOR: VIA ARCHITECT Blakc Dn[i,rccrinI

CONTRACT0R'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT Thc unclcrsigncd contractor ccftilics that to (hc bcst of thc Contracto/s knowlcdgc,

Do"uaar, Crn't',n,, aonlinualion Shcel. is lttlchcd conrplctcd in accordancc rvith thc Contract Documcnts, that all amounts lravc bc-cn paid by
thc Cortrrctor for Work for wlrich prcvious Ccrtificatcs for Paymcnt werc issuctl and
payDlcnts rcccivcd fror)r thc Owncr, and thal currcnt paymcnt shown hercin is now duc.s335,400.00

2. flET CHANGES tN THE WORK..........,.,..........

3. CONTRACT SUM TO DAIE (Lirc I r :) ..........................................

4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE (Cohmn G ou 6703\
5. RETAINAGE:

a. 0.00 7o ol'Corrplctcd Work
(Cohnn D + l) on G70l)

$62 049.63

S397,,N4 9,63 Srntc of:
oI: Orangc

Sutrscribcd and srvom to
$0.00

b.0 % of Srorcd Matcrial
(ColM tt I" on C703) s0.00 M Commission rct:

Totirl Retainage (/.irc.r' 5a + 5h or Totttl in Colun I ofG703)......,. so oo CERTIFICATE FOR
6. TOTAL EARNED LESS REIAINAGE

(l.hp 4 ,ttht s Linc 5 T(ttul)
7. LESS PREVIOUS CERTIFICATES FOR PAYMENT

(Unc 6l,otfi pio, Cc ilicatcl

sl97 449.6f ln accordirnce with the Conl ts, b0sed ou ev{luations ofthe Work and the data

s343 I80.50

8. CURRENT PAYMENT DUE s54.269.r 3 AMOUNT CERTIFIED $54 269.t3

9. BALANCE TO FINISH, INCLUDING RETAINAGE
(.iflach erplanation ifanount ceflifed dillers lrorn the anouht applied. Initial alltigrcs on this
/lpplication an(l o the Co i uatiotl Slrcet lhat are changed to conlot't t with the amo nlce iJied.)
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER:(Line 3 ruirus Linc $ $0.00

By: .lrolcr

I.0RtGtNALCONTRACTSUM ...............

SUMMARY OF CIIANCES IN TIIE WORK ADDITIONS DEI-JUCTIONS
Totcl chrnges:rpproved ir previous monlhs by Ownea s62.049.63 $0.00

Total :rpprove<l this monlh including Construction
Clrilngc Dircctivcs $0.00 $0.00

TOTALS s62,049.63 $0.00
NE'I' C}IANCI]S IN 'II.IE WORK $62.049.63

mc this )f dny o
Nohry Public:

ry.,"* 3l,1ll-,,,Hin li',I*,^*xa(x.it,itrr,rr No 0l I x,iritii t;;C
c,'"#J;ili.i j,lli,yl-s:,iiltY.,o2 

6

Dalc:

c

comprising this npplicution, thc Construdion Managcr and Architcct ccfiry to thc O\yncr
tlrat to thc bcst of thcir knowlcdgc, information and bclicf thc Work has progrcsscd as
indicatcd, the quality of the Work is in accordancc with thc Contract Documcnts, and thc
Contractor is entitled to payment of the AMOUNT CERTIFIED.

ARCHftECIt. (NOTE: lfnu tiple Cotrtrocto* ot"a ,?spohsible lor perhrmhrg porlions o[the Project,
lhe /lrchilecl's Cerliicotiofi is fiot ftqtiftd.)
By, Dtltc:

This Certificrte is ot negoti{ble. The AMOUNT CERTIFIED is payable only to tlre Contraclor
nomcd horcin. lssu0ncc, paymcnl and rcccptance of paymcnt arc \\,ithortt prcjudicc to finy rights o[
thc Olvncr or Contmctor under this Contract.

I
uss only. and may only bo used in accodancewith lh€ AIA Conlract DocumentsoT6rms ol SeNico, To report copyrighl violalions. e-msil docinfo@aiaconkacls.com.
tlser Notes: (3B9ADA51)

I

5397,449.63 By: ,r/pz/"s-----t-----7-











January 2024 Director’s Report

Personnel
∙ Received Librarian I Civil Service list for Adult Services and sent canvas letters 1/18/24
∙ Received Librarian II Civil Service list for Youth Services and sent canvas letters 1/18/24
Responses to both are due by 2/5/24
∙ Snow Closures: 1/16-full day; 1/19 at 1PM

Budget/Financial
∙ Began the budget for 24/25, after verifying the Tax Base growth factor with H. Sotland.
∙ RCLS will begin requiring 2-factor authentication on all RCLS-issued email addresses. This

cannot be done on any ‘generic’ email accounts, ex: COR@rcls.org, etc. There will also be an
additional expense of at least $7.20 per email account. I’ve just received the list of these and will work
on who to give access to so we can implement 2-factor authentication.

∙ Auditors here 1/30 to audit FY 2023/24

Programming
∙

∙ 1/18 Lead Mystery Book Discussion at 2 PM (9 attendees).

∙ 1/25-Cornwall Chamber of Commerce room use @ 7:45 am

Building and Grounds
∙ 1/16 Gary Roach trimmed trees on the street side lawn that were getting too close to the

building and/or had too many dead branches
∙ 1/17 Spoke with John Flanagan about Tree of Heaven along the east border of the Library

property. He will cut them down by spring.
∙ 1/18 CJM Plumbing snaked the main library drain due to sewage backing up into the

men’s room & Janitor’s closet sink.
∙ 1/14 CI noticed that shingles came off the roof and collected them all. On 1/15 I called

several local roofers for estimates. I also got in contact with Padovani Roofing and was
told since this was ‘an act of God’ they would not warranty it. Stepehns roofing cam on
1/31 and is looking in ot see if Padovani was a ‘certified installer’ of GAF shingles, in
which case GAF would cover the cost of the shingles, at least. If not we will have to
pay all the repair costs. I have one quote so far.

Monthly Statistics September 2023 (previous month in parentheses):
Registered borrowers: 7,818 (7,761); Direct Access/Circulation: 9,701 (7,720);
ILL Borrows: 1,771 (1,751); ILL Loans: 1,422 (447); Item Count: 74,056 (67,873);
Wi-Fi: 5,506 (5,283).
Libby (Overdrive) checkouts: 4,194 (3,700); Overdrive unique users: 773 (732).
Freegal Music Service: CKO: See Adult Services report. Hoopla: See Adult
Services Report.

Meetings Attended: 1/9 Chris Patak to discuss Solar options, 1/9 Dept. Heads Meeting; 1/10
Directors’ Assoc. Meeting; 1/10 Board Meeting; 1/17 Staff Meeting; 1/22 Strategic Planning
Committee Meeting;1/25 ILS Committee Meeting;1/30 Finance Committee Meeting; 1/31 Dept.
Heads Meeting; 1/31 Orange County Directors to discuss West Point and Direct Access vs Local

mailto:COR@rcls.org


Access for that area.Workshops Attended: 1/30-ANNUAL REPORT WORKSHOP

Youth Services -End of Month Report - January 2024
Program Children Teens Adults Total Attended

PJ Story Time 1/3 8 1 6 15

T.U.T. 1/5 7 7

Dog Tales 1/8 7 1 8

Family Story Time 1/9 9:30 11 16 27

Family Story Time 1/9 10:30 7 8 15

ChatterBooks 1/10 10 10

Fam. S. T. 1/16 cancelled (snow day)

PJ Story Time 1/17 6 3 9

Book Break 1/18 10 10

Baby & Me 1/19 cancelled (weather)

Saturday Morning Story
Time 1/20 4 7 11

Chess Time 1/20 11 1 8 20

Dog Tales 1/22 11 1 12

Family Story Time 9:30 1/23 11 15 26

Family Story Time 10:30 1/23 11 12 23

Readzza, Readzza 1/26 6 6

Baby & Me 1/26 9:30 3 5 8

Baby & Me 1/26 10:30 11 14 25

Family Build-It 1/27 35 27 62

Family Story Time 1/30 9:30 11 10 21

Family Story Time 1/30
10:30 12 16 28

TOTALS 195 9 99 343



Meetings & Outreach
1/8 SRP Planning Lisa & Liz
1/9 & 1/31 Dept.Mtgs. Lisa & Liz
1/12 RCLS Mock Awards Lisa & Liz
1/17 Staff Mtg. Lisa, Sharon, & Liz

Questions @ the Desk
Reference 302, Circulation 62, Phone 38, Tech 21, Story Times/programs 53, New to the area tours 6.

Reflections
This year, January resembled the month of March in the amount of foot traffic in the Youth Services area.
Many people were seeking spaces for homework, seasonal books, or a place for their child to play and
socialize. We hosted a full schedule of programs, read, presented, & attended the Mock Caldecott,
Newbery, & Printz Awards at RCLS, began the massive task of scanning materials for a full inventory of
our collection, assisted TUT with their plans for Take Your Child to the Library Day, all while planning
displays and processing large quantities of brand new books. My heartfelt thanks to all who work to help
this department run…well more like gallop!

Respectfully submitted 2/2/24, ekf

Adult Services Report: January 1-31, 2023(Submitted by David J. Phillips IV, 02/6/2024)

REFERENCE: (previous month) Reference Questions: 156 (125); Quick Tech Assists: 54 (73);
1-on-1 Tech Help: 23 (3); Circulation: 105 (71); Directional: 12 (28); Reader’s Advisory: 6
(2); ILL/SEAL: 14 (1); Pull List: 1140 (653); Printing: 79 (67); Phone: 55 (31); Virtual Ref: 3
(0); Notary Service: 53 (37)

Database Stats: (previous month) NoveList Plus Searches: 35 (7); NoveList PlusK-8: 0 (1);
EBSCO Master FILE Premier: 0 (14); EBSCO Other: 0 (151); Gale Virtual Ref. Library: 1 (1);
Ancestry: 0 (0

Freegal: 6 New users; 9 active users, 28 downloads (Not renewing in June. Not enough use or
selection to justify the cost)

Hoopla: Circulations 482 (375); Users 175 (146); Usage Breakdown: Digital Audiobook – 233
(201); Digital BingePass – 1 (4); Digital Comics – 25 (4); Digital Ebook – 145 (106); Digital
Movie – 36 (24); Digital Music – 18 (12); Digital Television – 24 (10)

Tutor.com: User accounts – 1 (1) [As discussed with Charlotte, she has agreed to cut this]

NYTimes Digital Subscription Stats: (previous month) In-House Library usage sessions 52
(57); page views 119 (121); articles read 71 (69); Offsite Code redemptions: 148 (129); usage
sessions 242 (237); page views 851 (816); articles read 222 (185)



PC Usage: (previous month) Adults’: 252 (254); Children’s: 7 (2); Laptops: 1 (3); PC
Reservations: 0 (0); Guest Passes: 26 (3)

HOME DELIVERIES (previous month) New Sign Ups: 0 (0); Unique Patrons: 0 (0);
Deliveries: 10 (7); Items Delivered: 12 (7)

PROGRAMS: Members’ Choice Book Group: (Dawn) 5
Monday Night Movie: (Andrew) 1/15-11, 1/29-12
Mystery Book Group: (Charlotte) 10
Teen Tech Club: (Pamela) 2

REFERENCE ROUNDUP: David – Inventory is moving along. Adult and YA Nonfiction are
just about finished. Adult Music CDs are also almost finished. New Large Print Fiction, New
Large Print Nonfiction, Large Print Fiction, Large Print Nonfiction, and Large Print Biography
are all complete. Finding errors that must have been from being closed for Covid and then
reopening. At the Reference Users Group meeting, other librarians said the same thing. Items
coming up from 2019-2021 are still cataloged as new. Need to pause, switch their status and
location, and then carry on with the inventory. We are at a nice pace now. Andrew and Eileen
are assisting.

Upcoming Conferences and Webinars:02/07/2024 – NYLA Library Advocacy Day
02/14/2024 – Cultivating and Sustaining the Relationship-Driven Library
02/21/2024 – Libraries as Resilience Hubs Assessment and Engagement: A Place-based
Framework for Assessing Vulnerability and Opportunity

03/21/2024 – AI and Libraries online mini-conference

Adult Programming & Outreach Projects: January 2024

. Date                              Title                                                                                              Attendance

1/11/24                     Art Exhibit Opening: "A Picture Book Deconstructed               17
                                        Mama Loon and Mr. Dale" by Theresa DeSalvio
1/25/24                     Vermilion Tree Collage Workshop                                                     17
1/31/24                      MSLC Lung Cancer Screening & Prevention                                 10
                                                                                                                                    Total : 44

Creative Writers Workshop: 1/8-6, 1/15-7, 1/22-9, 1/29-9                                 Total: 31

Community Room Use:
 1/23/24                       Town of Cornwall Friendly Visitor Program                                        4
1/25/24                       Greater Cornwall Chamber of Commerce Board Meeting                       12
                                                                                                                                     Total: 16



Donations to Friends of Cornwall Library:
1/25/24                           Vermillion Tree Collage Workshop...$28.00

Notary Services..Please add to David's Report....1

Highlights & Tidbits: Old Man Winter was more interested in snowy weather than library programming
this month! What a surprise for him when we not only did some valuable programs but planned out the
next couple of months with great offerings for our community.

The collage program brought friendship and laughter to very serious crafters and even a visit from the
Cornwall Local photographer who placed our smiles in the February 2nd edition of the paper! And we
raised $28.00 for the Friends...just all in a day's work.

Lastly, I was pleasantly surprised that there were 10 attendees for the MSLC program on a cold January
night. The attendance was small, but I truly believe that if you helped one person than you helped a
crowd. The style of the talk was comfortable although the topic was difficult, but the physician answered
everyone's questions with respect and clarity. We are discussing expanding our relationship going forward
to include high risk populations including children in our school system.

Looking forward to moving forward into 2024,

Brenda



Strategic Planning Report

The Strategic Planning Committee met Monday, January 22, 2024. We reviewed the
updated Strategic Plan Flyer (thanks to Jess McHugh) and approved it for distribution. The QR
codes work. Check it out:

  2024 Strategic Plan Flyer- Draft .pdf

Staff will be able to access their input form using a link on an internal page (LibGuides).
Charlotte will be working with Pat to set that up.

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1CxQwdYUBKyTPRnueGoGB5WB7Z-4sxiwF/view?usp=sharing


Governance for the Board of Trustees



Table Of Contents

1. History-Cornwall Public Library

2. Governance--Governance--Rules for the Government of the Board of Trustees

3. Governance--Organizations Oath of Office

4. Governance--Public Access to Records

5. Governance--Friends of Cornwall Public Library

6. Governance--Library Bill of Rights

7. Governance--New York State’s Public Library System

8. Governance--Types of Libraries

9. Appendix A. Current Board Roster

10. Appendix B. Reconsideration of Policy Form



Section 1

Cornwall Public Library’s History



Cornwall Public Library’s History

The First Library in Cornwall owed its existence to a number of forward-looking citizens,who in
November 1869, formed the Cornwall Circulating Library. One of the group, a wealthy philanthropist
named Erard A. Matthiessen, became the chief stockholder and later owner of an imposing three-story
structure erected in the village square. Although the building housed a number of establishments
including an assembly on the top floor, its name—Library Hall—signified the principal occupant, the
library.

The editor of an early town newspaper, a woman of education and culture, used every opportunity to
extol the library, especially as an inducement for vacationists who invaded Cornwall in the summer. The
community was a popular resort in post-Civil War years filled with spacious hotels and boarding houses.

Despite the name – “Circulating Library” – the facility seems to have functioned more as a reading room
where a number of daily newspapers and current periodicals could be found. Supported by an annual
subscription, ranging from one to five dollars, and by occasional fundraisers, it also relied on
contributions of books from the patrons. The room was open daily, especially in the summer when, in
rainy weather, it would be filled with guests from the nearby hotels.

Matthiessen Hall, once known as Library Hall, in the Village of Cornwall on Hudson,

Although the library could count on permanent quarters, its survival was threatened by a decline in the
resort business and by a lack of patronage from the year-round population. In 1889, the local newspaper
announced the sale of books and other property of the Cornwall Circulating Library; all that remained
were small collections of books in the town’s public schools.

The next step came in 1893 when the two largest school districts applied for a charter from the State
Board of Regents, which had been empowered to charter free public libraries supported by a school or
municipal tax base. Within a short time, Cornwall obtained its permanent charter and School District 5
(Canterbury) set up a library in a small school, which in 1904 moved to a new building. At the same
time, School District 4 (Cornwall-on-Hudson), whose school was close to Library Hall, was able to
occupy the former reading room. Each library had a board of trustees that met periodically to oversee



the operations and approve the selection of new books, exercising censorship over “unsuitable” material.
Under a series of librarians, as yet untrained, the collections of books increased both in numbers and
scope; card catalogues were instituted; and a small juvenile section opened. The windows of the library
in Cornwall-on-Hudson overlooked the village square which made it a favorite after-school haunt of
teenagers, who came ostensibly to do their homework. In 1921, the residents of Mountainville, a rural
section of Cornwall, organized a third town library. They found space in a store, stocked the shelves
with books from their homes, took turns as librarians, and sponsored benefits to defray the costs. Later
they moved into an empty railroad station.

By the 1930s, the deteriorating condition of Library Hall (now called Matthiessen Hall) made the need
for new library quarters. The son of the late Mr. Matthiessen offered to build a new library in
Cornwall-on-Hudson, a handsome colonial-style building which opened in 1935 and is still in use.
The three libraries operated independently until the centralization of the Cornwall Schools in 1954. A
new library charter had to be obtained. The libraries of Districts 4 and 5 joined to become the Cornwall
Public Library with one board of trustees and a single budget. There were three branches: the Library in
Cornwall-on-Hudson; rooms in the Town Hall into which the District 5 library had moved in 1953; and
the Mountainville Library, which joined the system in 1969.

The history of the last three decades can be summed up in two familiar words: modernization and
expansion. Meeting the public demand for up-to-date services led to the hiring of a professional director
and additional staff, the purchase of computers and other modern equipment, and the expansion of
programs, including those for children. Those who remember the once-spacious interior of the
Cornwall-on-Hudson library were astounded at the then crowded conditions—additional shelving and
equipment left scarcely room to turn around; and the problem was worse at the Town Hall branch.

The Library in the Village of Cornwall-on-Hudson was built in 1934.



Over the years, several options have been presented to the taxpayer, ranging from the acquisition of
existing buildings to the erection of a new library. In 1989, a proposition for a $3.2 Million building was
defeated, as was a scaled-down version for $2.65 million in 1990. Closing the Mountainville branch in
1990 subsequently reduced operating costs. In 1997, the Trustees presented voters an entirely new plan
to build a 10,000 square foot library for $2.2 million. Designed by architect Peter R. Hoffman of
Marlboro, NY, the proposal for the new library offered the consolidation of services, collections, and
staff in one new location at Riverlight Park. Active campaigning by members of the Friends of the
Library and other interested citizens achieved the long-needed approval of a new building in December
of that year. Construction of the new Cornwall Public Library began in April 1999, with a grand opening
slated for later that year or early 2000.

~By Janet Dempsey (Written in 1999 before the opening of the current library)

Library History – An Update

Today, Cornwall Public Library houses a collection of close to 195,000 items that includes hardcover
books, paperbacks, ebooks, audio books, DVDs, and music CDs. There are over 8,800 registered
borrowers, it receives over 151,000 annual visits, and is open 7 days a week. The Library has 8 public
computers, 4 children’s learning stations, a laptop/iPad lab for training and in-house borrowing, and a
children’s early literacy mini iPad lab with 10 mini iPads for use by preschoolers through teens. There is
a diverse offering of programs for people of all ages and interests that draw more than 8,300 attendees
annually. The Library serves as a Community Center for residents of the Cornwall Central School
District and beyond, and strives continually to meet the needs and requests of the Greater Cornwall
Community.



Section 2

Rules for the Governance of the
Board of Trustees



Rules for the Governance of the Board of Trustees

Introduction

In 1959, the Education Department of the State of New York chartered the Cornwall Public Library (CPL). This
Charter of Organization has continued in effect and forms the legal, structural base for functions of the Board of
Trustees and its governance of the Cornwall Public Library. With the Charter are written Rules for the
Government of the Board of Trustees.

The following Rules for Government have been developed over time and within the framework of the Charter.
Since 1959, the Board of Trustees has written appropriate policies and set procedural changes in order to meet
new needs and update the provision of Public Services by the Library.

1. Regular meetings shall be held on the second Wednesday of each month at 7:00 PM in the
Cornwall Public Library or at such other time and place as the Board may determine.

2. Special meetings may be held at any time at the call of the President, Vice President, or Secretary, or a call of
any two members of the Board, provided that proper notice is given thereof.

3. A quorum at any meeting shall consist of four or more Trustees.

4. The order of Business at all regular meetings of the Board shall be as follows:

I. Roll

II. Approval of Agenda

III. Approval of the Minutes –MM/DD/YYYY

IV. Financial Review

1. Approval of Warrant #n

V. Public Remarks

VI. Communications/Donations

VII. Director’s Report

VIII. Committee Reports

1. Finance Committee

2. Policy Committee

3. Building, Grounds & Sustainability Committee

4. Friends

5. Personnel Committee

6. Strategic Planning Committee

IX. Unfinished Business

X. New Business



XI. Adjournment

Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the parliamentary procedure of the Board.

Organization

1. Pursuant to the retirement of the General Code of the State of New York, the Board of Library Trustees from
School District Number One shall consist of seven (7) members elected by the qualified voters of the Cornwall
Central School District of the Towns of Cornwall, New Windsor and Woodbury, Orange County, New York for a
full term of three (3) years. The Board shall appoint vacancies due to cause other than expiration of term until the
next Operating Budget Vote and Trustee election. At that time the appointee and any other interested candidates
may run for the remainder of the unexpired term.

2. The Trustees shall have full responsibility for the formation of policies governing the operation and program of
the library; they shall employ a competent Library Director possessing a Master’s Degree in Library Science; and
shall secure adequate funds to carry on the Library’s program.

3. The Officers of the Board shall be President, Vice President and Secretary. Their terms of office shall be for
one (1) year coinciding with the Library’s Fiscal Year (July 1-June 30). They shall be elected at the first regular
meeting in each fiscal year.

4. The duties of all officers shall be by custom and law and rules of this Board devolved upon such officers in
accordance with their titles. The president shall be, ex officio, a member of all committees.

Committees

Standing committees shall be Finance; Policy; Building, Grounds and Sustainability; Friends; Personnel; Strategic
Planning. Committees should have no more than three members. The President may appoint committees for other
purposes, those committees will be considered discharged upon the completion of the purpose for which it was
appointed after the final report is made to the board.

Budget & Public Voting

In order to maintain and develop services of the CPL, the Board of Trustees will start a review of expenditures,
staff and planning for the next fiscal year by January of each year. Working with the Library Director, the Board
will prepare a final budget plan in time for adoption at the Board meeting in March.

The budget will be presented to the public with time for public review and voting in April (or as close to April as
the Orange County Board of Elections schedule will allow) for approval or rejection. The election of a Trustee for
each open position will be made at the same public vote.

As CPL is a School District Public Library, public voting for the proposed budget, election of trustees or any
needed special bond expenses will be carried out in accordance with the voting rules of the Cornwall Central
School District.

Library Director and Staff

1. The Board shall appoint a qualified Library Director possessing a Master’s Degree in Library Science who shall
be the executive and administrative officer of CPL on behalf of the board and serve under its review and direction.

2. The Library Director shall recommend to the Board the appointment and specific duties of other employees and
shall be held responsible for the proper direction and supervision of the staff.



3. The Library Director shall also be responsible for:

a. The care and maintenance of the Library property;

b. Adequate and appropriate selection of materials in keeping with the stated policies of the Board;

c. The efficiency of Library service to the public;

d. The Library’s financial operation within the limits of the budgeted appropriation;

4. In the case of part-time or temporary workers, the Library Director shall have the interim
authority to appoint without prior approval of the Board until its next regular meeting.

Library Staff Responsibilities

The overall responsibilities of the Library Director are defined in the Rules of Government of the Board of
Trustees. Delegation of tasks geared toward ongoing library service is at the discretion of the Library Director.
The Director will direct the staff to maintain all library services year round.

In the absence of the Library Director for vacation, illness or unexpectedly for other reasons, these supervisory
responsibilities will fall to the senior full-time qualified librarian working under the review and direction of the
Board of Trustees.

Amendments

Amendments to these rules may be proposed at any regular meeting but may become effective only after a
favorable vote at a subsequent meeting. Any of the foregoing rules may be temporarily suspended by a
unanimous vote of all the Trustees present at any meeting.

Reconsideration of a Policy

Patrons may request that the Board of Trustees of CPL reconsider a policy. Patrons should contact Library Staff
for a copy of the request for Reconsideration of a Policy Form. The form should be completed and returned to the
Information Desk. The Library Director will then present the form during the New Business section of the next
regular meeting.



Section 3

Organization Oath of Office



SAMPLE

MM/DD/YYYY

Organizational Oath of Office

I, ____________, do solemnly swear and affirm that I will support the Constitution of the United States and the
Constitution of the State of New York; and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of Trustee of the
Cornwall Public Library according to the best of my ability.

Signature: ____________________________________

Date: ________________

Witness: ______________________________________

Date: ________________



Section 4

Public Access to Records



Public Access to Records of Cornwall Public Library

Part 1. Freedom of Information
Part 2. Scope of the Law
Part 3. What is a Record
Part 4. Accessible Records
Part 5. Protection of Privacy
Part 6. How to Obtain Records

Subject Matter List
Regulations
Designation of Records Access Officer
Request for Records
Fees
Denial of Access and Appeal
Access to Legislative Records
Access to Court Records

Part 7. Sample Letters
Requesting Records
Requesting Records by Email
Appeal A Written Denial
Appeal A Denial due to an Agency’s Failure to Respond in a Timely Manner (Sample)

Part 8. Open Meetings
What is a Meeting
What is Covered by the Law?
Notice of Meetings
Videoconferencing
Records to be Discussed
When can a Meeting be Closed
After the Meeting - Minutes
Enforcement of the Law
The Site of Meetings
Exceptions to Coverage by the Law
Public Participation and Recording Meetings
___________________________________________________________________________

Part 1. Freedom of Information

The Freedom of Information Law (FOIL) affirms your right to know how your government operates. It provides
rights of access to records that reflect governmental decisions and policies that affect the lives of every New
Yorker. The Law authorized the creation of the Committee on Open Government.

Part 2. Scope of the Law

All agencies are subject to FOIL and the Law defines “agency” to include all units of state and local government
in New York State, including state agencies, public corporations and authorities, as well as any other
governmental entities performing a governmental function for the state or for one or more units of local
government in the state (Pub. Off. L. (“POL”) § 86(3)).

The term “agency” does not include the State Legislature or the courts. For purposes of clarity, “agency” will be
used hereinafter to include all entities of government in New York, except the State Legislature and the courts,
which will be discussed later.



Part 3. What is a Record?

All records are subject to the FOIL, and the law defines “record” as “any information kept, held, filed, produced
or reproduced by, with or for an agency . . . in any physical form whatsoever.” POL § 86(4). It is clear that items
such as audio or visual recordings, data maintained electronically, and paper records fall within the definition of
“record.” An agency is not required to create a new record or provide information in response to questions to
comply with the law; however, the courts have held that an agency must provide records in the form requested if it
has the ability to do so. For instance, if the agency can transfer data into a requested format, the agency must do so
upon payment of the proper fee.

Part 4. Accessible records

FOIL is based on a presumption of access, stating that all records are accessible, except records or portions of
records that fall within one of the below categories of deniable records. POL § 87(2).

An agency may decline to produce records or portions thereof that:
(a) are specifically exempt from disclosure by state or federal statute;
(b) would if disclosed result in an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;
(c) would if disclosed impair present or imminent contract awards or collective bargaining negotiations;
(d) are trade secrets or are submitted to an agency by a commercial enterprise or derived from information
obtained from a commercial enterprise and which if disclosed would cause substantial injury to the
competitive position of the subject enterprise;
(e) are compiled for law enforcement purposes and which if disclosed would:

i. interfere with law enforcement investigations or judicial proceedings, provided however, that
any agency, which is not conducting the investigation that the requested records relate to, that is
considering denying access pursuant to this subparagraph shall receive confirmation from the law
enforcement or investigating agency conducting the investigation that disclosure of such records
will interfere with an ongoing investigation; ii. deprive a person of a right to a fair trial or
impartial adjudication;

iii. identify a confidential source or disclose confidential information relative to a criminal
investigation; or iv. reveal criminal investigative techniques or procedures, except routine
techniques and procedures;

(f) could if disclosed endanger the life or safety of any person;
(g) are inter-agency or intra-agency communications, except to the extent that such materials
consist of:

i. statistical or factual tabulations or data;
ii. instructions to staff that affect the public;
iii. final agency policy or determinations; or
iv. external audits, including but not limited to audits performed by the comptroller and the
federal government;

(h) are examination questions or answers that are requested prior to the final administration of
such questions; or
(i) if disclosed, would jeopardize the capacity of an agency or an entity that has shared
information with an agency to guarantee the security of its information technology assets, such assets
encompassing both electronic information systems and infrastructures; or
(j) [Deemed repealed Dec. 1, 2024] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other recorded
images prepared under authority of section eleven hundred eleven-a of the vehicle and traffic law.
(k) [Expires and deemed repealed Dec. 1, 2024] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other
recorded images prepared under authority of section eleven hundred eleven-b of the vehicle and traffic
law.



(l) [Expires and deemed repealed Sept. 20, 2025] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other
recorded images produced by a bus lane photo device prepared under authority of section eleven hundred
eleven-c of the vehicle and traffic law.
(m) [Expires and deemed repealed July 1, 2022] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other
recorded images prepared under the authority of section eleven hundred eighty-b of the vehicle and traffic
law.
(n) [Expires and deemed repealed Dec. 1, 2024] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other
recorded images prepared under authority of section eleven hundred eleven-d of the vehicle and traffic
law.
(o) [Expires and deemed repealed Sept. 12, 2024] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other
recorded images prepared under authority of section eleven hundred eleven-e of the vehicle and traffic
law.
(p) [See also, par. (p) below.] are data or images produced by an electronic toll collection system under
authority of article forty-four-C of the vehicle and traffic law and in title three of article three of the public
authorities law. (p) [Expires and deemed repealed Sept. 6, 2024; See also, par. (p) above.] are
photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images prepared under the authority of
section eleven hundred eighty-d of the vehicle and traffic law.
(q) [Expires and deemed repealed Dec. 1, 2024] are photographs, microphotographs, videotape or other
recorded images prepared under authority of section eleven hundred seventy-four-a of the vehicle and
traffic law.
(r) [Expires and deemed repealed Oct. 6, 2026; See also, pars. (r) below.] are photographs,
microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images prepared under the authority of section eleven
hundred eighty-e of the vehicle and traffic law.
(r) [Expires and deemed repealed Dec. 1, 2026; See also, pars. (r) above and below.] are photographs,
microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images prepared under authority of section eleven hundred
eleven-f of the vehicle and traffic law.
(r) [Expires and deemed repealed Dec. 1, 2025; See also, pars. (r) above.] are photographs,
microphotographs, videotape or other recorded images or information and data prepared under authority
of section three hundred eighty-five-a of the vehicle and traffic law.

The categories of records that an agency may decline to produce generally involve the potentially harmful effects
of disclosure. They are based in great measure upon the notion that disclosure would in some instances “impair,”
“cause substantial injury to,” “interfere with,” “deprive,” “endanger,” etc.

One category of records an agency may decline to disclose that does not deal directly with the effects of
disclosure is exception (g), which deals with interagency and intra-agency materials. The intent of the exemption
is twofold. Written communications transmitted from an official of one agency to an official of another or
between officials within an agency may be withheld as exempt insofar as they consist of advice, opinions or
recommendations. For example, an opinion prepared by staff which may be rejected or accepted by the head of an
agency need not be made available. Statistical or factual information, on the other hand, as well as the policies and
determinations upon which an agency relies in carrying out its duties, are available unless a different exemption
applies.

There are also special provisions in the law regarding the protection of trade secrets and critical infrastructure
information. Those provisions pertain only to state agencies and enable a business entity submitting records to
state agencies to request that records be kept separate and apart from all other agency records. When a request is
made for records falling within these special provisions, the submitter of such records is given notice and an
opportunity to justify a claim that the records would if disclosed result in substantial injury to the competitive
position of the submitter’s commercial enterprise. A member of the public requesting records may challenge such
a claim.



Generally, the law applies to existing records. Therefore, an agency need not create a record in response to a
request. Nevertheless, POL § 87(3) requires that each agency must maintain the following:

(a) a record of the final vote of each member in every agency proceeding in which the
member votes;
(b) a record setting forth the name, public office address, title and salary of every officer or employee of
the agency; and
(c) a reasonably detailed current list by subject matter of all records in possession of an agency, regardless
of whether the records are accessible.

Part 5. Protection of Privacy

One of the exceptions to rights of access referenced earlier states that records may be withheld when disclosure
would result in “an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.” POL § 87(2)(b).

Unless otherwise deniable, disclosure shall not be construed to constitute an unwarranted
invasion of personal privacy when identifying details are deleted, when the person to whom a record pertains
consents in writing to disclosure, or when upon presenting reasonable proof of identity, people seek access to
records pertaining to themselves.

When a request is made for records that constitute a list of names and home addresses of natural persons (i.e., not
corporations or individuals acting in a business capacity) or its equivalent, the agency is permitted to require that
the applicant certify that such list will not be used for solicitation or fund-raising purposes and will not sell, give
or otherwise make available such lists to any other person for the purpose of allowing that person to use such list
for solicitation or fund-raising purposes. POL § 89(3)(a).

Since 2010, agencies have been prohibited from intentionally releasing social security numbers to the public. POL
§ 96-a.

Part 6. How to Obtain Records

Subject matter list

As noted earlier, each agency must maintain a “subject matter list.” POL § 87(3)(c). The list is not a compilation
of every record an agency has in its possession, but rather is a list of the subjects or file categories under which
records are kept. It must reference all records in possession of an agency, regardless of whether the records are
available. You have a right to know the kinds of records agencies maintain.

The subject matter list must be compiled in sufficient detail to permit you to identify the file category of the
records sought, and it must be updated annually. Each state agency is required to post its subject matter list online.
An alternative to and often a substitute for a subject matter list is a records retention schedule. Schedules
regarding state and local government outside of New York City are prepared by the State Archives; those
applicable in New York City are prepared by the NYC Department of Records and Information Services.

Regulations

Each agency must adopt standards based upon general regulations issued by the Committee. These procedures
describe how you can inspect and copy records. The Committee regulations and a model designed to enable
agencies to easily comply are available on the Committee website. See Regulations of the Committee on Open
Government and Model Rules for Agencies.



Designation of Records Access Officer

Under the Committee regulations, each agency must appoint one or more persons as records access officer. The
records access officer has the duty of coordinating the agency response to public requests for records in a timely
fashion. In addition, the records access officer is responsible for ensuring that agency personnel assist in
identifying records sought, make the records promptly available or deny access in writing, provide copies of
records or permit you to make copies, certifying that a copy is a true copy and, if the records cannot be found,
certifying either that the agency does not have possession of the requested records or that the agency does have
the records, but they cannot be found after diligent search.

The regulations also state that the public shall continue to have access to records through officials who have been
authorized previously to make information available. The records access officer is:

Charlotte A. Dunaief, Library Director
Cornwall Public Library
395 Hudson Street
Cornwall, NY 12518
845-534-8282
cdunaief@rcls.org

Requests for Records

An agency may ask you to make your request in writing. See Sample Request for Records, below. The law
requires you to “reasonably describe” the record in which you are interested. POL § 89(3)(a). Whether a request
reasonably describes records often relates to the nature of an agency filing or recordkeeping system. If records are
kept alphabetically, a request for records involving an event occurring on a certain date might not reasonably
describe the records. Locating the records in that situation might involve a search for the needle in the haystack,
and an agency is not required to engage in that degree of effort. The responsibility for identifying and locating
records sought rests to an extent upon the agency. If possible, you should supply dates, titles, file designations, or
any other information that will help agency staff to locate requested records, and it may be worthwhile to find out
how an agency keeps the records of your interest (i.e., alphabetically, chronologically or by location) so that a
proper request can be made.

The law also provides that agencies must accept requests and transmit records requested by email when they have
the ability to do so. These days, few agencies will not have an email system and accordingly must accept requests
and provide records using this method.

Within five business days of the receipt of a written request for a record reasonably described, the agency must
make the record available, deny access in writing giving the reasons for denial, or furnish a written
acknowledgment of receipt of the request and a statement of the approximate date when the request will be
granted or denied, which must be reasonable in consideration of attendant circumstances, such as the volume or
complexity of the request. The approximate date ordinarily cannot exceed 20 business days from the date of the
acknowledgment of the receipt of a request. If an agency determines that it needs more than 20 business days to
grant a request in whole or in part, the agency acknowledgment must explain the reason and provide a specific
date within which it will grant a request in whole or in part. 9 When an agency delays a response beyond 20
business days, the delay must be reasonable in relation to the circumstances of the request. If the agency fails to
abide by any of the requirements concerning the time within which it must respond to a request, the request is
deemed denied, and the person seeking the records may appeal the denial. For more information, see Explanation
of Time Limits for Responding to Requests.

mailto:cdunaief@rcls.org


Fees

An agency must make copies of records available on request. Except when a different fee is prescribed by statute
(an act of the State Legislature), an agency may not charge for inspection, certification or search for records, or
charge in excess of 25 cents per photocopy up to nine by 14 inches. POL §87(1)(b)(iii). An agency may charge
fees for copies of other records based upon the actual cost of reproduction. There may be no basis to charge for
copies of records that are transmitted electronically; however, when requesting electronic data, there are occasions
when the agency can charge for employee time spent preparing the electronic data.

Denial of Access and Appeal

Unless a denial of a request occurs due to a failure to respond in a timely manner, a denial of access must be in
writing, stating the reason for the denial and advising you of your right to appeal to the head or governing body of
the agency or the person designated to determine appeals by the head or governing body of the agency. The
following person(s) or body shall determine appeals regarding the denial of access to records under the Freedom
of Information Law:

President of the Board of Trustees
Cornwall Public Library
395 Hudson Street, Cornwall, NY 12518
845-534-8282

You may appeal within 30 days of a denial. Upon receipt of the appeal, the agency head, governing body or
appeals officer has ten business days to fully explain in writing the reasons for further denial of access or to
provide access to the records. Copies of appeals and the determinations thereon must be sent by the agency to the
Committee on Open Government. POL § 89(4)(a). A failure to determine an appeal within 10 business days of its
receipt is considered a denial of the appeal.

You may seek judicial review of a final agency denial by initiating a proceeding pursuant to Article 78 of the Civil
Practice Law and Rules. When a denial is based on an exception to rights of access, the agency has the burden of
proving that the record sought falls within the claimed exemption(s). POL § 89(4)(b).

FOIL permits a court, in its discretion, to award attorney fees to a petitioner when the court finds that they have
substantially prevailed and the agency failed to respond to a request or appeal within the statutory time. An award
of 10 attorney fees is mandatory when the petitioner has substantially prevailed and the court finds that the agency
had no reasonable basis for denying access.

Access to Legislative Records

Section 88 of FOIL applies only to the State Legislature and provides access to the following records in its
possession:

(a) bills, fiscal notes, introducers’ bill memoranda, resolutions and index records; (b) messages received
from the Governor or the other house of the Legislature, as well as home rule messages;
(c) legislative notification of the proposed adoption of rules by an agency;
(d) transcripts, minutes, journal records of public sessions, including meetings of committees,
subcommittees and public hearings, as well as the records of attendance and any votes taken;



(e) internal or external audits and statistical or factual tabulations of, or with respect to, material otherwise
available for public inspection and copying pursuant to this section or any other applicable provision of
law;
(f) administrative staff manuals and instructions to staff that affect the public;
(g) final reports and formal opinions submitted to the Legislature;
(h) final reports or recommendations and minority or dissenting reports and opinions of members of
committees, subcommittees, or commissions of the Legislature;
(i) any other records made available by any other provision of law; and
(j) external audits conducted pursuant to section ninety-two of the legislative law and schedules issued
pursuant to subdivision two of section ninety of the legislative law.

In addition, each house of the Legislature must maintain and make available:
(a) a record of votes of each member in each session, committee and subcommittee meeting in which the
member votes;
(b) a payroll record setting forth the name, public office address, title and salary of every officer or
employee; and
(c) a current list, reasonably detailed, by subject matter of any record required to be made available by
section 88.

Each house is required to issue regulations pertaining to the procedural aspects of the law. Requests for the listed
records should be directed to the public information officers of the respective houses.

Access to Court Records

Although the courts are not subject to FOIL, § 255 of the Judiciary Law has long required the clerk of a court to
“diligently search the files, papers, records and dockets in his office” and upon payment of a fee make copies of
such items. Justice Courts are covered by § 2019-a of the Uniform Justice Court Act, which states that “records
and dockets of the court except as otherwise provided by law shall be at reasonable times open for inspection to
the public.”

Agencies charged with the responsibility of administering the judicial branch, such as, for example, the Office of
Court Administration, are not courts and therefore are treated as agencies subject to FOIL.



Part 7. Sample Letters

Requesting Records (Sample)

Records Access Officer

Name of Agency

Address of Agency

City, NY, ZIP code

Re: Freedom of Information Law

Request Records Access Officer:

Under the provisions of the New York Freedom of Information Law, Article 6 of the Public Officers Law, I hereby

request records or portions thereof pertaining to (or containing the following) __________________ (attempt to

identify the records in which you are interested as clearly as possible). If my request appears to be extensive or

fails to reasonably describe the records, please contact me in writing or by phone at _______________ .

If there are any fees for copying the records requested, please inform me before filling the request (or: ... please

supply the records without informing me if the fees are not in excess of $____).

As you know, the Freedom of Information Law requires that an agency respond to a request within five business

days of receipt of a request. Therefore, I would appreciate a response as soon as possible and look forward to

hearing from you shortly. If for any reason any portion of my request is denied, please inform me of the reasons

for the denial in writing and provide the name and address of the person or body to whom an appeal should be

directed.

Sincerely,

Signature Name

Address City, State, ZIP code



Requesting Records by Email (Sample)

We suggest that agencies create an email address dedicated to the receipt of requests. It is recommended that you
review the website of the agency maintaining the records that you seek in order to locate its email address and its
records access officer. The subject line of an applicant’s request should be “FOIL Request.”

Dear Records Access Officer:

Please email the following records if possible (include as much detail about the record as possible, such as
relevant dates, names, descriptions, etc.): OR

Please advise me of the appropriate time during normal business hours for inspecting the following records prior
to obtaining copies (include as much detail about the records as possible, including relevant dates, names,
descriptions, etc.): OR

Please inform me of the cost of providing paper copies of the following records (include as much detail about the
records as possible, including relevant dates, names, descriptions, etc.). AND/OR

If all of the requested records cannot be emailed to me, please inform me by email of the portions that can be
emailed and advise me of the cost for reproducing the remainder of the records requested ($0.25 per page or
actual cost of reproduction).

If the requested records cannot be emailed to me due to the volume of records identified in response to my
request, please advise me of the actual cost of copying all records onto a storage device or other media.

If my request is too broad or does not reasonably describe the records, please contact me via email so that I may
clarify my request, and when appropriate inform me of the manner in which records are filed, retrieved or
generated.

If it is necessary to modify my request, and an email response is not preferred, please contact me at the following
telephone number: _____________.

If for any reason any portion of my request is denied, please inform me of the reasons for the denial in writing and
provide the name, address and email address of the person or body to whom an appeal should be directed.

(Name) (Address, if records are to be mailed).



Appeal A Written Denial (Sample)

Name of Agency Official

Appeals Officer

Name of Agency

Address of Agency

City, NY, ZIP code

Re: Freedom of Information Law Appeal

Dear __________:

I hereby appeal the denial of access regarding my request, which was made on __________ (date) and sent to

__________ (records access officer, name and address of agency).

The records that were denied include:_______________ (describe the records that were denied to the extent

possible and, if possible, offer reasons for disagreeing with the denial, i.e., by attaching an opinion of the

Committee on Open Government acquired for its website).

As required by the Freedom of Information Law, the head or governing body of an agency, or whomever is

designated to determine appeals, is required to respond within 10 business days of the receipt of an appeal. If the

records are denied on appeal, please explain the reasons for the denial fully in writing as required by law.

In addition, please be advised that the Freedom of Information Law directs agencies to send all appeals and the

determinations that follow to the Committee on Open Government, Department of State, One Commerce Plaza,

99 Washington Ave., Albany, New York 12231.

Sincerely, Signature Name Address City, State, ZIP code



Appeal A Denial due to an Agency’s Failure to Respond in a Timely Manner (Sample)

FOIL Appeals Officer

Name of Agency

Address of Agency

City, NY, ZIP code

Re: Freedom of Information Law Appeal

Dear __________:

I requested (describe the records) by written request made on __________ (date). More than five business days

have passed since the receipt of the request without having received a response… or… Although the receipt of the

request was acknowledged and I was informed that a response would be given by __________ (date), no response

has been given. Consequently, I consider the request to have been denied, and I am appealing on that basis.

As required by the Freedom of Information Law, the head or governing body of an agency, or whomever is

designated to determine appeals, is required to respond within 10 business days of the receipt of an appeal. If the

records are denied on appeal, please explain the reasons for the denial fully in writing as required by law.

In addition, please be advised that the Freedom of Information Law directs agencies to send all appeals and the

determinations that follow to the Committee on Open Government, Department of State, One Commerce Plaza,

99 Washington Ave., Albany, New York 12231.

Sincerely,

Signature

Name

Address City, State, ZIP code



Part 8. Open Meetings

The Open Meetings Law (OML) went into effect in 1977. Amendments that clarify and reaffirm your right to hear
the deliberations of public bodies became effective in 1979.

In brief, the law gives the public the right to attend meetings of public bodies, listen to debates and watch the
decision-making process in action. It requires public bodies to provide notice of the times and places of meetings
and keep minutes of all action taken.

As stated in the legislative declaration of the OML (POL § 100):

It is essential to the maintenance of a democratic society that the public business be performed in an open
and public manner and that the citizens of this state be fully aware of and able to observe the performance
of public officials and attend and listen to the deliberations and decisions that go into the making of public
policy.

What is a Meeting?

“Meeting” is defined as “the official convening of a public body for the purpose of conducting public business.”
POL § 102(1). Courts have expansively interpreted this term. Any time a quorum of a public body gathers for the
purpose of discussing public business, the meeting must be open to the public, regardless of whether there is
intent to take action, and regardless of the manner in which the gathering is or may be characterized. The
definition also authorizes members of public bodies to conduct meetings by videoconference provided that certain
requirements are adhered to. A meeting cannot validly be held by telephone or through the use of email.

Since the law applies to “official” meetings, chance meetings or social gatherings are not covered; however,
should a quorum be present without having provided proper notice, the discussion should not pertain to public
business. Also, the law is silent with respect to public participation. Therefore, a public body may permit the
public to speak at open meetings, but is not required to do so.

What is Covered by the Law?

The law applies to all public bodies. “Public body” is defined to cover entities consisting of two or more people
that require a quorum to conduct public business and perform a governmental function for the state, for an agency
of 17 the state, or for public corporations, including cities, counties, towns, villages and school districts. See POL
§ 102(2). In addition, committees and subcommittees consisting solely of members of a governing body are
specifically included within the definition. Consequently, city councils, town boards, village boards of trustees,
school boards, commissions, legislative bodies and committees and subcommittees of those groups all fall within
the framework of the law. Citizens’ advisory bodies and similar advisory groups that are not created by law are
not required to comply with the OML.

Notice of Meetings

The law requires that notice of the time and place of all meetings be given prior to every meeting. See POL § 104.
If a meeting is scheduled at least a week in advance, notice must be given to the public and the news media not
less than 72 hours prior to the meeting. Notice to the public must be accomplished by posting in one or more
designated public locations and, when possible, online.



When a meeting is scheduled less than a week in advance, notice must be given to the public and the news media
“to the extent practicable” at a reasonable time prior to the meeting. Again, notice to the public must be given by
means of posting in designated locations and online.
Videoconferencing

Public bodies may use videoconferencing technology to conduct their meetings in one of two ways.

Standard videoconferencing:
A public body may, under all circumstances, allow its members to attend from any physical location that is open
to in-person public attendance. The locations from which all members will be attending, which must be open to
the public, must also be included in the meeting notice.

Extraordinary Circumstances videoconferencing:
On April 9, 2022, Governor Hochul signed Chapter 56 of the Laws of 2022, which added § 103-a to the OML.
Under POL § 103-a, effective June 9, 2022, and absent a declared statewide or applicable local disaster, a public
body may act to allow members to attend a meeting by videoconference without opening the location to in-person
public attendance under “extraordinary circumstances” only.

Each public body that wishes to allow for remote attendance by its members at locations that do not allow for
in-person physical attendance by the public is required to, after a public hearing, adopt a local law (governing
bodies of counties, cities, towns and villages), adopt a joint resolution (New York State Senate and Assembly), or
adopt a resolution (any other public body) authorizing such remote attendance, and must establish written
procedures that set forth what they determine to be “extraordinary circumstances.” Chapter 56 includes a
non-exhaustive list of examples of such circumstances, “including disability, illness, caregiving responsibilities, or
any other significant or unexpected factor or event which precludes the member’s physical attendance at such
meeting.”

Additionally, if a public body decides to meet under POL § 103-a, a minimum number of members must be
present to fulfill the quorum requirement of the public body in a physical location or locations where the public
can attend. Any member who participates at a physical location that is open to in-person attendance by the public
(and which location has been included in the meeting notice) may count toward a quorum and may fully
participate and vote in the meeting. If there is a quorum of members at a physical location or locations open to the
public, the public body may properly convene a meeting; a member who is participating from a remote location
that is not open to in person physical attendance by the public may not count toward a quorum of the public body
(but may participate and vote if there is a quorum of members at a physical location open to the public).

Finally, if a public body conducts a meeting leveraging POL § 103-a allowing a member to participate from a
private location by videoconference based upon a determination of “extraordinary circumstances,” the public
notice for the meeting must inform the public that such videoconferencing will be used and must include
directions for how the public can view and/or participate (if participation is permitted) in such meeting.

Records to be Discussed

If records that are scheduled to be discussed during an open meeting are available under FOIL or consist of a
proposed resolution, law, rule, regulation, policy or any amendment thereto, the record is required to be made
available “to the extent practicable” online, at least 24-hours before the meeting, and in response to a request to
inspect or copy prior to or during the meeting.

When Can a Meeting be Closed?



The law provides for closed or “executive” sessions under circumstances described in the law. It is important to
emphasize that an executive session is not separate from an open meeting, but rather is defined as a portion of an
open meeting during which the public may be excluded. See POL § 105.

To hold an executive session, the law requires that a public body take several procedural steps. First, the public
body must make a motion during an open meeting to enter into executive session; second, the motion must
identify “the general area or areas of the subject or subjects to be considered”; and third, the motion must be
carried by a majority vote of the total membership of a public body.

A public body cannot close its doors to the public to discuss the subject of its choice, for the law specifies and
limits the subject matter that is appropriate for executive session. The eight areas that may be discussed behind
closed doors include:

(a) matters which will imperil the public safety if disclosed;
(b) any matter which may disclose the identity of a law enforcement agency or informer;
(c) information relating to current or future investigation or prosecution of a criminal offense which
would imperil effective law enforcement if disclosed;
(d) discussions regarding proposed, pending or current litigation;
(e) collective negotiations pursuant to Article 14 of the Civil Service Law (the Taylor Law);
(f) the medical, financial, credit or employment history of a particular person or corporation, or matters
leading to the appointment, employment, promotion, demotion, discipline, suspension, dismissal or
removal of a particular person or corporation;
(g) the preparation, grading or administration of examinations; and
(h) the proposed acquisition, sale or lease of real property or the proposed acquisition of securities, or sale
or exchange of securities held by such public body, but only when publicity would substantially affect the
value thereof.

These are the only subjects that may be discussed behind closed doors; all other deliberations must be conducted
during open meetings.

It is important to point out that a public body can never vote to appropriate public monies during a closed session.
Therefore, although most public bodies may vote during a properly convened executive session, any vote to
appropriate public monies must be taken in public.

The law also states that an executive session can be attended by members of the public body and any other
persons authorized by the public body.

Note that item (f) is often referenced as “personnel,” even though that term does not appear in the grounds for
holding executive sessions. Only when the discussion focuses on “a particular person or corporation” in relation to
one or more of the topics listed in that provision is an executive session permitted.

After the Meeting —Minutes

If you cannot attend a meeting, you can still find out what actions were taken, because the OML requires that
minutes of both open meetings and executive sessions must be compiled and made available. See POL § 106.

Minutes of an open meeting must consist of “a record or summary of all motions, proposals, resolutions and any
matter formally voted upon and the vote thereon.” Minutes of executive sessions must consist of “a record or
summary of the final determination” of action that was taken, “and the date and vote thereon.” Therefore, if, for
example, a public body merely discusses a matter during executive session, but takes no action, minutes of an
executive session need not be compiled; however, if action is taken, minutes of the action taken must be compiled
and made available.



It is also important to point out that FOIL requires that a voting record must be compiled that identifies how
individual members voted in every instance in which a vote is taken. Consequently, minutes that refer to a four to
three vote must also indicate who voted in favor, and who voted against. The law does not require the approval of
minutes but directs that minutes of an open meeting be prepared and disclosed within two weeks. Agencies that
maintain a website and use a high-speed internet connection must post meeting minutes (which may still be in
draft form) on its website within two weeks of the date of the meeting, or within one week of an executive
session.

Enforcement of the Law

What can be done if a public body holds a secret meeting? What if a public body makes a decision in private that
should have been made in public? Any “aggrieved” person can bring a lawsuit. Since the law says that meetings
are open to the general public, a person may be aggrieved if improperly excluded from a meeting or if an
executive session was improperly held.

Upon a judicial challenge, a court has the power to declare either that the public body violated the OML and/or
declare the action taken void. See POL § 107. If the court determines that a public body has violated the law, it
has the authority to require the members of the public body receive training given by the Executive Director of the
Committee or her staff. A court also has the authority to award reasonable attorney fees to the successful party.
This means that if you go to court and you win, a court may (but need not) reimburse you for your expenditure of
legal fees. If, on the other hand, the court finds that a public body voted in private “in material violation” of the
law “or that substantial deliberations occurred in private” that should have occurred in public, the court would be
required to award costs and attorney’s fees to the successful party. A mandatory award of attorney’s fees would
apply only when secrecy is the issue.

We note that an unintentional failure to fully comply with the notice requirements “shall not alone be grounds for
invalidating action taken at a meeting of a public body.”

The Site of Meetings

As specified earlier, all meetings of a public body are open to the general public. The law requires that public
bodies make reasonable efforts to ensure that meetings are held in facilities that permit “barrier-free physical
access” to all and that meetings are held in rooms that can “adequately accommodate” the volume of members of
the public who wish to attend. See POL § 103.

Exceptions to Coverage by the Law

Pursuant to POL § 108, the OML does not apply to:
(1) judicial or quasi-judicial proceedings, except proceedings of zoning boards of appeals;
(2) deliberations of political committees, conferences and caucuses; or
(3) matters made confidential by federal or state law.

The law does not apply to proceedings before a court or before a public body that acts in the capacity of a court, to
political caucuses, or to discussions concerning matters that might be made confidential under other provisions of
law. For example, federal law requires that records identifying students be kept confidential. As such, a school
board discussion of records that do or may identify a particular student would constitute a matter made
confidential by federal law that would be exempt from the OML. Similarly, a meeting in which a public body’s
attorney provides legal advice to the members of such body is exempt from coverage because an attorney’s
provision of legal advice to a client is confidential as a matter of law.

Public Participation and Recording Meetings



The OML provides the public with the right to attend meetings of public bodies, but it is silent concerning the
ability of members of the public to speak or otherwise participate. Although public bodies are not required to
permit the public to speak at their meetings, many have chosen to do so. In those instances, we have advised that a
public body should do so by adopting reasonable rules that treat members of the public equally.

If a public body is leveraging “extraordinary circumstances videoconferencing” pursuant to POL § 103-a to
conduct its meeting, the public body must provide the same opportunity for members of the public to view the
meeting (and participate, if such body permits public participation), both by remote technology or in person, in
real time.

Public bodies are required to allow meetings to be photographed, broadcast, webcast or otherwise recorded as
long as the equipment used to do so is not disruptive or obtrusive. If the public body adopts rules regarding such
activities, they must be reasonable and conspicuously posted, and be provided to those in attendance upon request.
See POL § 103(d).

_________________________________________________________________________

For more information about the Freedom of Information Law, visit
https://opengovernment.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2022/06/your-right-to-know-0522.pdf

If you are unable to locate information on the website and need advice regarding either FOIL or the OML, feel
free to contact: Committee on Open Government, NYS Department of State One Commerce Plaza 99 Washington
Ave Ste 650 Albany, NY 12231 (518) 474-2518 (telephone) / (518) 474-1927 (facsimile) / coog@dos.ny.gov

https://opengovernment.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2022/06/your-right-to-know-0522.pdf
mailto:coog@dos.ny.gov


Section 5

Friends of Cornwall Public Library



Friends of Cornwall Public Library

The Board of Trustees, the Library Director and the entire library staff respect and recognize with appreciation the
active interest and support of the Friends of Cornwall Public Library, which is a separate and distinct organization.
CPL Trustees and the Library Director will maintain active communication with the Friends as well as mutual
cooperation in many projects.

Room for the Friends Bookstore, run by the Friends, is provided for in the library building. The Board of
Directors of Friends of Cornwall Library controls activity and use of the Bookstore, within the overall purview of
the Library’s Director and Trustees.

APPROVED December 2000



Section 6

Library Bill of Rights



Library Bill of Rights

The American Library Association affirms that all libraries are forums for information and ideas, and that the
following basic policies should guide their services.

I. Books and other library resources should be provided for the interest, information, and enlightenment of all
people of the community the library serves. Materials should not be excluded because of the origin, background,
or views of those contributing to their creation.

II. Libraries should provide materials and information presenting all points of view on current and historical
issues. Materials should not be proscribed or removed because of partisan or doctrinal disapproval.

III. Libraries should challenge censorship in the fulfillment of their responsibility to provide information and
enlightenment.

IV. Libraries should cooperate with all persons and groups concerned with resisting abridgment of free expression
and free access to ideas.

V. A person’s right to use a library should not be denied or abridged because of origin, age, background, or views.

VI. Libraries which make exhibit spaces and meeting rooms available to the public they serve should make such
facilities available on an equitable basis, regardless of the beliefs or affiliations of individuals or groups requesting
their use.

VII. All people, regardless of origin, age, background, or views, possess a right to privacy and confidentiality in
their library use. Libraries should advocate for, educate about, and protect people’s privacy, safeguarding all
library use data, including personally identifiable information.

Adopted June 19, 1939, by the ALA Council; amended October 14, 1944; June 18, 1948; February 2, 1961; June
27, 1967; January 23, 1980; January 29, 2019.

Inclusion of “age” reaffirmed January 23, 1996.

“Library Bill of Rights | Advocacy, Legislation & Issues.” American Library Association,
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/librarybill. Accessed 10 January 2024.

Approved as policy as of 10/06/09; _______new date_____

https://www.ala.org/advocacy/


Section 7

New York State’s Public Library Systems



New York State's Public Library Systems
Improving information literacy, educational achievement,

economic development, and quality of life for all New Yorkers

Facts About Public Library Systems

● Serve over 19 million people statewide
● Serve 755 public libraries with over 1,100 outlets
● Operate over 300 neighborhood branches, 11 bookmobiles, and over 100 other community outlets

extending services to people in correctional facilities, nursing homes, urban and rural areas
● Facilitate over 15 million interlibrary loan requests annually
● Provide access to e-books, NOVELNY and other electronic resources
● Provide professional development and training opportunities for library staff and trustees
● Operate multi-county computer networks and automated catalogs of resources
● Connect with the New York State Library, school library systems, reference and research library resources

councils, and school, academic and special libraries for access to specialized resources
● Serve as a liaison to the New York State Library and the New York State Education Department

Three Types of Public Library Systems
Consolidated (3): Chartered as a single entity under a board of trustees (Brooklyn, The New York Public Library,
and Queens Borough Public Library).

Federated (4): Created by action of the board or boards of supervisors or legislature of the county or counties
involved while member libraries retain their own charters (Buffalo & Erie, Clinton-Essex-Franklin, Monroe, and
Onondaga).

Cooperative (16): An association created by agreement of boards of chartered member libraries, which retain their
autonomy.
See also Types of Library Systems

Public Library Systems Provide

● Free direct access to resources and services of all system member libraries
● Support for a central library that provides extended public hours and a strong research and reference

collection
● Support for the latest technologies and telecommunication services including e-books, the New York

Online Virtual Electronic Library (NOVELNY) and other electronic resources
● Interlibrary loan, daily delivery and other resource sharing services
● Special outreach and literacy services for persons with challenging conditions and life situations, the

institutionalized, underserved and unserved communities, and people who have difficulty reading,
writing, and speaking English

● Cooperative grants administration and grant writing assistance to member libraries
● Access to free talking books, braille materials, and playback equipment from the State Library and The

New York Public Library
● Programs that assist local communities without libraries to obtain library services

https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm


● Staff expertise in areas such as library law, library budgeting and management, technology, collection
development, grants, youth services, outreach and more

● Professional development and training for library staff and trustees

New York State's Public Library Systems

● Brooklyn Public Library -- (718) 230-2403
● Buffalo & Erie County Public Library -- (716) 858-8900
● Chautauqua-Cattaraugus Library System -- (716) 484-7135
● Clinton-Essex-Franklin Library System -- (518) 563-5190
● Finger Lakes Library System -- (607) 273-4074
● Four County Library System -- (607) 723-8236
● Mid-Hudson Library System -- (845) 471-6060
● Mid York Library System -- (315) 735-8328
● Mohawk Valley Library System -- (518) 355-2010
● Monroe County Library System -- (585) 428-8045
● Nassau Library System -- (516) 292-8920
● The New York Public Library -- (212) 930-0674
● Nioga Library System -- (716) 434-6167
● North Country Library System -- (315) 782-5540
● Onondaga County Public Library -- (315) 435-1900
● Pioneer Library System -- (585) 394-8260
● Queens Borough Public Library -- (718) 990-0700
● Ramapo Catskill Library System -- (845) 243-3747
● Southern Adirondack Library System -- (518) 584-7300
● Southern Tier Library System -- (607) 962-3141
● Suffolk Cooperative Library System -- (631) 286-1600
● Upper Hudson Library System -- (518) 437-9880
● Westchester Library System -- (914) 674-3600



Background Information
In the late 1950s, the State Legislature and Governor authorized the establishment of public library systems in
Education Law. Governance and function are established in the Regulations of the Commissioner of Education.
Each public library system is governed by a board of trustees.
See also Types of Library Systems
The State created library systems to expand the resources of all local libraries, enabling them to buy services and
share resources cooperatively. Most of the 23 public library systems are supported entirely by State Aid. Systems
qualify for aid based on an approved five-year plan of service and annual report. A portion of the State Aid is
direct aid for member libraries.
More information on State Aid programs for libraries and library systems
Public library systems facilitate sharing of library resources so all New Yorkers have access to information and
library services that advance and enhance their lives as workers, citizens, family members, and lifelong learners.
Systems provide cooperative programs and services that help local communities take advantage of economies of
scale. System staff provide professional expertise that helps local libraries achieve their full potential.
For more information on and links to Public Library Systems and public libraries:

● Visit the New York State Library web site ;
● Check out the "Find Your Public Library" web site
● Call the Division of Library Development at the New York State Library: 518-474-7196
● or contact your Local Public Library System

For more information on and links to Public Library Systems and public libraries:
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/brochurp.htm

https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/excerpts/statutes.htm#EdLaw
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/excerpts/regulations.htm
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/stateaid/index.html
http://www.nysl.nysed.gov/
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/publibs/index.html
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/brochurp.htm#localpls
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/brochurp.htm


Section 8

Types of Libraries



For more information, see: https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm

https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm


Appendix A.

Cornwall Library Board of Trustees Roster

Fiscal Year 2023-2024

Term Begins Term Ends

STEPHANIE WOLF, President July 2021 June 2024
46 Ryan Court
New Windsor, NY 12553
Home: (845) 614-5488
Cell: (845) 913-5111
E-mail: CPLTrustee1@gmail.com
Committees: Finance (Chair)

MEGHANN CHYLA, Vice President July 2022 June 2025
14 Buttermilk Drive
New Windsor, NY 12553
Cell: (845) 612-8300
Work: (845) 534-8009
E-mail: CPLTrustee3@gmail.com
Committees: Personnel (Chair), Policy
______________________________________________________________________________
MELISSA GREAVES-KULISEK, Secretary
Mailing address: July 2021 June 2024
PO Box 173
Cornwall, NY 12518
15 Deerfield Lane
Highland Mills, NY 10930
Home: (845) 534-9668
Cell: (570) 618-0599
E-mail: CPLTrustee4@gmail.com
Committees: Building, Grounds & Sustainability (Chair),
Friends Liaison

LYNN DANIELS July 2022 June 2025
12 Perry Road
Cornwall, NY 12518
Cell: (845) 522-2574
E-mail: CPLTrustee5a@gmail.com
Committees: Policy (Chair), Building, Grounds & Sustainability, Finance

MICHELLE QUERY July 2023 June 2026
6 Frost Lane
Cornwall, NY 12518
Cell: (773) 706-4923

mailto:CPLTrustee1@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee3@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee4@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee5a@gmail.com


E-mail: CPLTrustee2A@gmail.com
Committees: Strategic Planning (Chair), Building, Grounds & Sustainability, Personnel
____________________________________________________________________________
MATT RETTIG July 2023 June 2026
53 Angola Road
Cornwall, NY 12518
Cell: (917) 687-0863
E-mail: CPLTrustee6a@gmail.com
Committees: Finance, Policy, Strategic Planning

JULIA DAHL July 2023 June 2026
2 Duncan Lane
Cornwall on Hudson, NY 12520
Cell: (917) 287-5166
E-mail: CPLTrustee7@gmail.com
Committees: Personnel, Strategic Planning, Friends Liaison

(Treasurer) (Director)
Emily Milton Charlotte A Dunaief
6 Sharon Court 20 Cornwall Avenue
Cornwall-on-Hudson, NY 12520 Cornwall on Hudson, NY 12520
Home: (845) 534-3212 Cell: (845) 642-6967
Cell: (850) 491-8452 Work: (845) 534-8282
E-mail: CPLTreasurer1@gmail.com E-mail: cdunaief@rcls.org
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

mailto:CPLTrustee2A@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee6a@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee7@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTreasurer1@gmail.com
mailto:cdunaief@rcls.org


Appendix B. Reconsideration of Policy Form

Form to Request Re-Evaluation of a Library Policy

This Request for Re-evaluation is governed by CPL’s Trustee Governance Policy.

For current copies of this document, visit www.cornwallpubliclibrary.org, or ask at 395 Hudson Street, Cornwall,
NY 12518.

To initiate a Re-Evaluation of a Library Policy:

1. You must be a resident of the Cornwall Central School District to request that a CPL policy be reconsidered.

2. You must be a Cardholder at the Cornwall Public Library.

If you meet these requirements, please fill out the form and email it to cdunaief@rcls.org, or mail it to: the CPL
Director, 395 Hudson Street, Cornwall, NY 12518

http://www.cornwallpubliclibrary.org
mailto:CPLTrustee1@gmail.com


Request for Reconsideration of a Library Policy

NAME:

CPL card
Number:

Address:

Policy you want
reconsidered:

Basis of
Concern:

Comments you
would like the
Library to
consider:

Date of
submission:

Signature:



Governance for the Board of Trustees



Table Of Contents

1. History-Cornwall Public Library

2. Governance--Rules for the Government of the Board of Trustees

3. Governance--Organizations Oath of Office

4. Governance--Public Access to Records

5. Governance--Friends of Cornwall Public Library

6. Governance--Library Bill of Rights

7. Governance--New York State’s Public Library System

8. Governance--Types of Libraries

9. Appendix A. Current Board Roster

10. Appendix B. Reconsideration of Policy Form



Section 1

Cornwall Public Library’s History



Cornwall Public Library’s History

The First Library in Cornwall owed its existence to a number of forward-looking citizens, who in
November 1869, formed the Cornwall Circulating Library. One of the group, a wealthy philanthropist
named Erard A. Matthiessen, became the chief stockholder and later owner of an imposing three-story
structure erected in the village square. Although the building housed a number of establishments
including an assembly on the top floor, its name—Library Hall—signified the principal occupant, the
library.

The editor of an early town newspaper, a woman of education and culture, used every opportunity to
extol the library, especially as an inducement for vacationists who invaded Cornwall in the summer. The
community was a popular resort in post-Civil War years filled with spacious hotels and boarding houses.

Despite the name – “Circulating Library” – the facility seems to have functioned more as a reading room
where a number of daily newspapers and current periodicals could be found. Supported by an annual
subscription, ranging from one to five dollars, and by occasional fundraisers, it also relied on
contributions of books from the patrons. The room was open daily, especially in the summer when, in
rainy weather, it would be filled with guests from the nearby hotels.

Matthiessen Hall, once known as Library Hall, in the Village of Cornwall on Hudson,

Although the library could count on permanent quarters, its survival was threatened by a decline in the
resort business and by a lack of patronage from the year-round population. In 1889, the local newspaper
announced the sale of books and other property of the Cornwall Circulating Library; all that remained
were small collections of books in the town’s public schools.

The next step came in 1893 when the two largest school districts applied for a charter from the State
Board of Regents, which had been empowered to charter free public libraries supported by a school or
municipal tax base. Within a short time, Cornwall obtained its permanent charter and School District 5
(Canterbury) set up a library in a small school, which in 1904 moved to a new building. At the same
time, School District 4 (Cornwall-on-Hudson), whose school was close to Library Hall, was able to
occupy the former reading room. Each library had a board of trustees that met periodically to oversee



the operations and approve the selection of new books, exercising censorship over “unsuitable” material.
Under a series of librarians, as yet untrained, the collections of books increased both in numbers and
scope; card catalogs were instituted; and a small juvenile section opened. The windows of the library in
Cornwall-on-Hudson overlooked the village square which made it a favorite after-school haunt of
teenagers, who came ostensibly to do their homework. In 1921, the residents of Mountainville, a rural
section of Cornwall, organized a third town library. They found space in a store, stocked the shelves
with books from their homes, took turns as librarians, and sponsored benefits to defray the costs. Later
they moved into an empty railroad station.

By the 1930s, the deteriorating condition of Library Hall (now called Matthiessen Hall) made the need
for new library quarters. The son of the late Mr. Matthiessen offered to build a new library in
Cornwall-on-Hudson, a handsome colonial-style building which opened in 1935 and is still in use.
The three libraries operated independently until the centralization of the Cornwall Schools in 1954. A
new library charter had to be obtained. The libraries of Districts 4 and 5 joined to become the Cornwall
Public Library with one board of trustees and a single budget. There were three branches: the Library in
Cornwall-on-Hudson; rooms in the Town Hall into which the District 5 library had moved in 1953; and
the Mountainville Library, which joined the system in 1969.

The history of the last three decades can be summed up in two familiar words: modernization and
expansion. Meeting the public demand for up-to-date services led to the hiring of a professional director
and additional staff, the purchase of computers and other modern equipment, and the expansion of
programs, including those for children. Those who remember the once-spacious interior of the
Cornwall-on-Hudson library were astounded at the then crowded conditions—additional shelving and
equipment left scarcely room to turn around; and the problem was worse at the Town Hall branch.

The Library in the Village of Cornwall-on-Hudson was built in 1934.



Over the years, several options have been presented to the taxpayer, ranging from the acquisition of
existing buildings to the erection of a new library. In 1989, a proposition for a $3.2 Million building was
defeated, as was a scaled-down version for $2.65 million in 1990. Closing the Mountainville branch in
1990 subsequently reduced operating costs. In 1997, the Trustees presented voters an entirely new plan
to build a 10,000 square foot library for $2.2 million. Designed by architect Peter R. Hoffman of
Marlboro, NY, the proposal for the new library offered the consolidation of services, collections, and
staff in one new location at Riverlight Park. Active campaigning by members of the Friends of the
Library and other interested citizens achieved the long-needed approval of a new building in December
of that year. Construction of the new Cornwall Public Library began in April 1999, with a grand opening
slated for later that year or early 2000.

Content b y Janet Dempsey (Written in 1999 before the opening of the current library)

Library History – An Update

Today, Cornwall Public Library houses a collection of close to 195,000 items that includes hardcover
books, paperbacks, eBooks, audio books, DVDs, and music CDs. There are over 8,800 registered
borrowers, it receives over 151,000 annual visits, and is open 7 days a week. The Library has 8 public
computers, 4 children’s learning stations, a laptop/iPad lab for training and in-house borrowing, and a
children’s early literacy mini iPad lab with 10 mini iPads for use by preschoolers through teens. There is
a diverse offering of programs for people of all ages and interests that draw more than 8,300 attendees
annually. The Library serves as a Community Center for residents of the Cornwall Central School
District and beyond, and strives continually to meet the needs and requests of the Greater Cornwall
Community.



Section 2

Rules for the Governance of the
Board of Trustees



Rules for the Governance of the Board of Trustees

Introduction

In 1959, the Education Department of the State of New York chartered the Cornwall Public Library (CPL). This
Charter of Organization has continued in effect and forms the legal, structural base for functions of the Board of
Trustees and its governance of the Cornwall Public Library. With the Charter are written Rules for the
Government of the Board of Trustees.

The following Rules for Government have been developed over time and within the framework of the Charter.
Since 1959, the Board of Trustees has written appropriate policies and set procedural changes in order to meet
new needs and update the provision of Public Services by the Library.

1. Regular meetings shall be held on the second Wednesday of each month at 7:00 PM in the
Cornwall Public Library or at such other time and place as the Board may determine.

2. Special meetings may be held at any time at the call of the President, Vice President, or Secretary, or a call of
any two members of the Board, provided that proper notice is given thereof.

3. A quorum at any meeting shall consist of four or more Trustees.

4. The order of Business at all regular meetings of the Board shall be as follows:

I. Roll

II. Approval of Agenda

III. Approval of the Minutes –MM/DD/YYYY

IV. Financial Review

1. Approval of Warrant #n

V. Public Remarks

VI. Communications/Donations

VII. Director’s Report

VIII. Committee Reports

1. Finance Committee

2. Policy Committee

3. Building, Grounds & Sustainability Committee

4. Friends

5. Personnel Committee

6. Strategic Planning Committee

IX. Unfinished Business

X. New Business



XI. Adjournment

Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the parliamentary procedure of the Board.

Organization

1. Pursuant to the retirement of the General Code of the State of New York, the Board of Library Trustees from
School District Number One shall consist of seven (7) members elected by the qualified voters of the Cornwall
Central School District of the Towns of Cornwall, New Windsor and Woodbury, Orange County, New York for a
full term of three (3) years. The Board shall appoint vacancies due to cause other than expiration of term until the
next Operating Budget Vote and Trustee election. At that time the appointee and any other interested candidates
may run for the remainder of the unexpired term.

2. The Trustees shall have full responsibility for the formation of policies governing the operation and program of
the library; they shall employ a competent Library Director possessing a Master’s Degree in Library Science; and
shall secure adequate funds to carry on the Library’s program.

3. The Officers of the Board shall be President, Vice President and Secretary. Their terms of office shall be for
one (1) year coinciding with the Library’s Fiscal Year (July 1-June 30). They shall be elected at the first regular
meeting in each fiscal year.

4. The duties of all officers shall be by custom and law and rules of this Board devolved upon such officers in
accordance with their titles. The president shall be, ex officio, a member of all committees.

Committees

Standing committees shall be Finance; Policy; Building, Grounds and Sustainability; Friends; Personnel; Strategic
Planning. Committees should have no more than three members. The President may appoint committees for other
purposes, those committees will be considered discharged upon the completion of the purpose for which it was
appointed after the final report is made to the board.

Budget & Public Voting

In order to maintain and develop services of the CPL, the Board of Trustees will start a review of expenditures,
staff and planning for the next fiscal year by January of each year. Working with the Library Director, the Board
will prepare a final budget plan in time for adoption at the Board meeting in March.

The budget will be presented to the public with time for public review and voting in April (or as close to April as
the Orange County Board of Elections schedule will allow) for approval or rejection. The election of a Trustee for
each open position will be made at the same public vote.

As CPL is a School District Public Library, public voting for the proposed budget, election of trustees or any
needed special bond expenses will be carried out in accordance with the voting rules of the Cornwall Central
School District.

Library Director and Staff

1. The Board shall appoint a qualified Library Director possessing a Master’s Degree in Library Science who shall
be the executive and administrative officer of CPL on behalf of the board and serve under its review and direction.

2. The Library Director shall recommend to the Board the appointment and specific duties of other employees and
shall be held responsible for the proper direction and supervision of the staff.



3. The Library Director shall also be responsible for:

a. The care and maintenance of the Library property;

b. Adequate and appropriate selection of materials in keeping with the stated policies of the Board;

c. The efficiency of Library service to the public;

d. The Library’s financial operation within the limits of the budgeted appropriation;

4. In the case of part-time or temporary workers, the Library Director shall have the interim
authority to appoint without prior approval of the Board until its next regular meeting.

Library Staff Responsibilities

The overall responsibilities of the Library Director are defined in the Rules of Government of the Board of
Trustees. Delegation of tasks geared toward ongoing library service is at the discretion of the Library Director.
The Director will direct the staff to maintain all library services year round.

In the absence of the Library Director for vacation, illness or unexpectedly for other reasons, these supervisory
responsibilities will fall to the senior full-time qualified librarian working under the review and direction of the
Board of Trustees.

Amendments

Amendments to these rules may be proposed at any regular meeting but may become effective only after a
favorable vote at a subsequent meeting. Any of the foregoing rules may be temporarily suspended by a
unanimous vote of all the Trustees present at any meeting.

Reconsideration of a Policy

Patrons may request that the Board of Trustees of CPL reconsider a policy. Patrons should contact Library Staff
for a copy of the request for Reconsideration of a Policy Form. The form should be completed and returned to the
Information Desk. The Library Director will then present the form during the New Business section of the next
regular meeting.



Section 3

Organization Oath of Office



SAMPLE

MM/DD/YYYY

Organizational Oath of Office

I, ____________, do solemnly swear and affirm that I will support the Constitution of the United States and the
Constitution of the State of New York; and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of Trustee of the
Cornwall Public Library according to the best of my ability.

Signature: ____________________________________

Date: ________________

Witness: ______________________________________

Date: ________________



Section 4

Public Access to Records



Public Access to Records of Cornwall Public Library

The Cornwall Public Library is subject to and uses the New York State Freedom of Information Law for
access to records. The current provisions of the Freedom of Information law can be found at
https://opengovernment.ny.gov/freedom-information-law.

Designation of Records Access Officer

The records access officer is:

Charlotte A. Dunaief, Library Director
Cornwall Public Library, 395 Hudson Street, Cornwall, NY 12518
845-534-8282
cdunaief@rcls.org

Denial of Access and Appeal
The following person(s) or body shall determine appeals regarding the denial of access to records under the
Freedom of Information Law:

President of the Board of Trustees
Cornwall Public Library
395 Hudson Street, Cornwall, NY 12518
845-534-8282

Part 8. Open Meetings

The Cornwall Public Library is subject to and uses the New York State Open Meetings Laws. The current
provisions of the Open Meetings Law can be found at https://opengovernment.ny.gov/open-meetings-law.
_________________________________________________________________________

For more information about the Freedom of Information Law and the Open Meetings Law, visit
https://opengovernment.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2022/06/your-right-to-know-0522.pdf

If you are unable to locate information on the website and need advice regarding either FOIL or the OML, feel
free to contact: Committee on Open Government, NYS Department of State One Commerce Plaza 99 Washington
Ave Ste 650 Albany, NY 12231 (518) 474-2518 (telephone) / (518) 474-1927 (facsimile) / coog@dos.ny.gov

https://opengovernment.ny.gov/freedom-information-law
mailto:cdunaief@rcls.org
https://opengovernment.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2022/06/your-right-to-know-0522.pdf
mailto:coog@dos.ny.gov


Section 5

Friends of Cornwall Public Library



Friends of Cornwall Public Library

The Board of Trustees, the Library Director and the entire library staff respect and recognize with appreciation the
active interest and support of the Friends of Cornwall Public Library, which is a separate and distinct organization.
CPL Trustees and the Library Director will maintain active communication with the Friends as well as mutual
cooperation in many projects.

Room for the Friends Bookstore, run by the Friends, is provided for in the library building. The Board of
Directors of Friends of Cornwall Library controls activity and use of the Bookstore, within the overall purview of
the Library’s Director and Trustees.

APPROVED December 2000



Section 6

Library Bill of Rights



Library Bill of Rights

The American Library Association affirms that all libraries are forums for information and ideas, and that the
following basic policies should guide their services.

I. Books and other library resources should be provided for the interest, information, and enlightenment of all
people of the community the library serves. Materials should not be excluded because of the origin, background,
or views of those contributing to their creation.

II. Libraries should provide materials and information presenting all points of view on current and historical
issues. Materials should not be proscribed or removed because of partisan or doctrinal disapproval.

III. Libraries should challenge censorship in the fulfillment of their responsibility to provide information and
enlightenment.

IV. Libraries should cooperate with all persons and groups concerned with resisting abridgment of free expression
and free access to ideas.

V. A person’s right to use a library should not be denied or abridged because of origin, age, background, or views.

VI. Libraries which make exhibit spaces and meeting rooms available to the public they serve should make such
facilities available on an equitable basis, regardless of the beliefs or affiliations of individuals or groups requesting
their use.

VII. All people, regardless of origin, age, background, or views, possess a right to privacy and confidentiality in
their library use. Libraries should advocate for, educate about, and protect people’s privacy, safeguarding all
library use data, including personally identifiable information.

https://www.ala.org/advocacy/


Adopted June 19, 1939, by the ALA Council; amended October 14, 1944; June 18, 1948; February 2, 1961; June
27, 1967; January 23, 1980; January 29, 2019.

Inclusion of “age” reaffirmed January 23, 1996.

“Library Bill of Rights | Advocacy, Legislation & Issues.” American Library Association,
https://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/librarybill. Accessed 10 January 2024.

Approved as policy as of 10/06/09; _______new date_____

Section 7

New York State’s Public Library Systems



New York State's Public Library Systems
Improving information literacy, educational achievement,

economic development, and quality of life for all New Yorkers

Facts About Public Library Systems

● Serve over 19 million people statewide
● Serve 755 public libraries with over 1,100 outlets
● Operate over 300 neighborhood branches, 11 bookmobiles, and over 100 other community outlets

extending services to people in correctional facilities, nursing homes, urban and rural areas
● Facilitate over 15 million interlibrary loan requests annually
● Provide access to e-books, NOVELNY and other electronic resources
● Provide professional development and training opportunities for library staff and trustees
● Operate multi-county computer networks and automated catalogs of resources
● Connect with the New York State Library, school library systems, reference and research library resources

councils, and school, academic and special libraries for access to specialized resources
● Serve as a liaison to the New York State Library and the New York State Education Department

Three Types of Public Library Systems
Consolidated (3): Chartered as a single entity under a board of trustees (Brooklyn, The New York Public Library,
and Queens Borough Public Library).

Federated (4): Created by action of the board or boards of supervisors or legislature of the county or counties
involved while member libraries retain their own charters (Buffalo & Erie, Clinton-Essex-Franklin, Monroe, and
Onondaga).



Cooperative (16): An association created by agreement of boards of chartered member libraries, which retain their
autonomy.
See also Types of Library Systems

Public Library Systems Provide

● Free direct access to resources and services of all system member libraries
● Support for a central library that provides extended public hours and a strong research and reference

collection
● Support for the latest technologies and telecommunication services including e-books, the New York

Online Virtual Electronic Library (NOVELNY) and other electronic resources
● Interlibrary loan, daily delivery and other resource sharing services
● Special outreach and literacy services for persons with challenging conditions and life situations, the

institutionalized, underserved and unserved communities, and people who have difficulty reading,
writing, and speaking English

● Cooperative grants administration and grant writing assistance to member libraries
● Access to free talking books, braille materials, and playback equipment from the State Library and The

New York Public Library
● Programs that assist local communities without libraries to obtain library services
● Staff expertise in areas such as library law, library budgeting and management, technology, collection

development, grants, youth services, outreach and more
● Professional development and training for library staff and trustees

New York State's Public Library Systems

● Brooklyn Public Library -- (718) 230-2403
● Buffalo & Erie County Public Library -- (716) 858-8900
● Chautauqua-Cattaraugus Library System -- (716) 484-7135
● Clinton-Essex-Franklin Library System -- (518) 563-5190
● Finger Lakes Library System -- (607) 273-4074
● Four County Library System -- (607) 723-8236

https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm


● Mid-Hudson Library System -- (845) 471-6060
● Mid York Library System -- (315) 735-8328
● Mohawk Valley Library System -- (518) 355-2010
● Monroe County Library System -- (585) 428-8045
● Nassau Library System -- (516) 292-8920
● The New York Public Library -- (212) 930-0674
● Nioga Library System -- (716) 434-6167
● North Country Library System -- (315) 782-5540
● Onondaga County Public Library -- (315) 435-1900
● Pioneer Library System -- (585) 394-8260
● Queens Borough Public Library -- (718) 990-0700
● Ramapo Catskill Library System -- (845) 243-3747
● Southern Adirondack Library System -- (518) 584-7300
● Southern Tier Library System -- (607) 962-3141
● Suffolk Cooperative Library System -- (631) 286-1600
● Upper Hudson Library System -- (518) 437-9880
● Westchester Library System -- (914) 674-3600

Background Information
In the late 1950s, the State Legislature and Governor authorized the establishment of public library systems in
Education Law. Governance and function are established in the Regulations of the Commissioner of Education.
Each public library system is governed by a board of trustees.
See also Types of Library Systems
The State created library systems to expand the resources of all local libraries, enabling them to buy services and
share resources cooperatively. Most of the 23 public library systems are supported entirely by State Aid. Systems
qualify for aid based on an approved five-year plan of service and annual report. A portion of the State Aid is
direct aid for member libraries.
More information on State Aid programs for libraries and library systems
Public library systems facilitate sharing of library resources so all New Yorkers have access to information and
library services that advance and enhance their lives as workers, citizens, family members, and lifelong learners.
Systems provide cooperative programs and services that help local communities take advantage of economies of
scale. System staff provide professional expertise that helps local libraries achieve their full potential.
For more information on and links to Public Library Systems and public libraries:

● Visit the New York State Library web site ;
● Check out the "Find Your Public Library" web site
● Call the Division of Library Development at the New York State Library: 518-474-7196
● or contact your Local Public Library System

For more information on and links to Public Library Systems and public libraries:
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/brochurp.htm

https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/excerpts/statutes.htm#EdLaw
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/excerpts/regulations.htm
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/stateaid/index.html
http://www.nysl.nysed.gov/
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/publibs/index.html
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/brochurp.htm#localpls
https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/brochurp.htm


Section 8

Types of Libraries





For more information, see: https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm

Appendix A.

Cornwall Library Board of Trustees Roster

Fiscal Year 2023-2024

Term Begins Term Ends

STEPHANIE WOLF, President July 2021 June 2024
46 Ryan Court
New Windsor, NY 12553
Home: (845) 614-5488
Cell: (845) 913-5111
E-mail: CPLTrustee1@gmail.com
Committees: Finance (Chair)

MEGHANN CHYLA, Vice President July 2022 June 2025
14 Buttermilk Drive
New Windsor, NY 12553
Cell: (845) 612-8300
Work: (845) 534-8009
E-mail: CPLTrustee3@gmail.com
Committees: Personnel (Chair), Policy
______________________________________________________________________________
MELISSA GREAVES-KULISEK, Secretary
Mailing address: July 2021 June 2024
PO Box 173
Cornwall, NY 12518
15 Deerfield Lane
Highland Mills, NY 10930

https://www.nysl.nysed.gov/libdev/libs/libtypes.htm
mailto:CPLTrustee1@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee3@gmail.com


Home: (845) 534-9668
Cell: (570) 618-0599
E-mail: CPLTrustee4@gmail.com
Committees: Building, Grounds & Sustainability (Chair),
Friends Liaison

LYNN DANIELS July 2022 June 2025
12 Perry Road
Cornwall, NY 12518
Cell: (845) 522-2574
E-mail: CPLTrustee5a@gmail.com
Committees: Policy (Chair), Building, Grounds & Sustainability, Finance

MICHELLE QUERY July 2023 June 2026
6 Frost Lane
Cornwall, NY 12518
Cell: (773) 706-4923
E-mail: CPLTrustee2A@gmail.com
Committees: Strategic Planning (Chair), Building, Grounds & Sustainability, Personnel
____________________________________________________________________________
MATT RETTIG July 2023 June 2026
53 Angola Road
Cornwall, NY 12518
Cell: (917) 687-0863
E-mail: CPLTrustee6a@gmail.com
Committees: Finance, Policy, Strategic Planning

JULIA DAHL July 2023 June 2026
2 Duncan Lane
Cornwall on Hudson, NY 12520
Cell: (917) 287-5166
E-mail: CPLTrustee7@gmail.com
Committees: Personnel, Strategic Planning, Friends Liaison

(Treasurer) (Director)
Emily Milton Charlotte A Dunaief
6 Sharon Court 20 Cornwall Avenue
Cornwall-on-Hudson, NY 12520 Cornwall on Hudson, NY 12520
Home: (845) 534-3212 Cell: (845) 642-6967
Cell: (850) 491-8452 Work: (845) 534-8282
E-mail: CPLTreasurer1@gmail.com E-mail: cdunaief@rcls.org
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

mailto:CPLTrustee4@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee5a@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee2A@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee6a@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTrustee7@gmail.com
mailto:CPLTreasurer1@gmail.com
mailto:cdunaief@rcls.org


Appendix B. Reconsideration of Policy Form

Form to Request Re-Evaluation of a Library Policy

This Request for Re-evaluation is governed by CPL’s Trustee Governance Policy.

For current copies of this document, visit www.cornwallpubliclibrary.org, or ask at 395 Hudson Street, Cornwall,
NY 12518.

To initiate a Re-Evaluation of a Library Policy:

1. You must be a resident of the Cornwall Central School District to request that a CPL policy be reconsidered.

2. You must be a Cardholder at the Cornwall Public Library.

If you meet these requirements, please fill out the form and email it to cdunaief@rcls.org, or mail it to: the CPL
Director, 395 Hudson Street, Cornwall, NY 12518

http://www.cornwallpubliclibrary.org
mailto:CPLTrustee1@gmail.com


Request for Reconsideration of a Library Policy

NAME:

CPL card
Number:

Address:

Policy you want
reconsidered:

Basis of
Concern:



Comments you
would like the
Library to
consider:

Date of
submission:

Signature:


	CPL Board Minutes & Packet 2-14-24
	CPL Board Meeting Agenda February 14 2023.docx
	Minutes January 10 2024.docx
	Warrant7 Jan 2024 
	CPL_Jan24_CapitalGrant
	CPL_Jan24_P&L
	AIA 6- Cornwall Public Library- CT#2 HVAC Pay App
	AIA 6- Cornwall Public Library- CT#4 Plumbing Base
	Budget Options
	Construction Billing January 2024
	final pay app
	January 2024 DirectorsReport.docx
	February 2024 Strategic Planning Committee Report

	Draft 2 Governance for the Board of Trustees (1).docx
	Draft 3 Governance for the Board of Trustees.docx

